Maximizing Options to Advance
Informed Choice for HIV Prevention
(MOSAIC) Gender and Youth Strategy

JUNE 2023







Contents

Acknowledgments	3
Acronyms and abbreviations	4
Introduction	5
Purpose	5
Project background	5
Using this document	7
Our vision and guiding principles	8
Operationalizing our commitment to gender integration and meaningful youth engagement	9
How we work	9
Understanding and responding to the unique needs of AGYW	10
What works for cisgender AGYW and research gaps	11
What works for transgender AGYW and research gaps	12
Crosscutting issues: What can be done and what questions remain?	13
Meaningful youth engagement for optimized and sustained impact	21
Closing	21
Annex A. Principles for gender integration and MYE: A foundation for ethical, equitable, and effective act to HIV prevention products	
Annex B. USAID and PEPFAR guidance	33
Annex C. NextGen Squad terms of reference	35
Annex D. Acting on MOSAIC Principles	41
Annex E. Gender Integration and MYE Tracker	42
Annex F. AGYW, HIV, and PrEP	46
Annex G. Crosscutting issues affecting AGYW access to and use of PrEP	48
Annex H. What do we know about engaging young people in research?	54
Annex I. Monitoring, evaluation, and learning guidance for a user-centered approach	55
References	57

Acknowledgments

MOSAIC gender and youth central staff and country leads from FHI 360 (Eswatini, Nigeria, Uganda, United States, and Zambia offices), LVCT Health, Jhpiego (Lesotho office), Pangaea Zimbabwe AIDS Trust (PZAT), and Wits Reproductive Health and HIV Institute (RHI) developed this document with support and guidance from the NextGen Squad and MOSAIC leadership.

We would like to thank our contributors:

- **FHI 360:** Robyn Dayton, Giuliana Morales, Kathleen Shears, Morgan Garcia, Allison Cole, Maggie McCarten-Gibbs, Bhekizitha Sithole, Peter Michael Adamu, Chileshe Bwalya, Featherstone Mangunje, Lilian Tutegyereize, Lauren Rutherford
- Jhpiego: Ntsoaki Khosi-Matobo
- LVCT Health: Caleb Owino, Patriciah Jeckonia
- NextGen Squad: Adaobi Olisa, Celi Nkambule, Chantel Manganye, Luwi Katoka, Margaret Akinyi Atieno, Merci Niyibeshaho, Nts'ebo Lerotholi, Tema Mkhonta
- PZAT: Definate Nhamo, Takudzwa Mamvuto
- Wits RHI: Nkunda Vundamina

This document was reviewed by Katie Schwartz, Kristine Torjesen, and Rose Wilcher from FHI 360; Manju Chatani and Nandi Sikwana from AVAC; and Ashley Vij, Erin Schelar, and Anita Dam from USAID. Kathleen Shears edited the document, and Jill Vitick designed and formatted it.

Suggested citation: Maximizing Options to Advance Informed Choice for HIV Prevention (MOSAIC). MOSAIC gender and youth strategy. Durham (NC): FHI 360; 2023.

This document is made possible by the generous support of the American people through the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) and the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID). The contents are the responsibility of the MOSAIC project and do not necessarily reflect the views of PEPFAR, USAID, or the U.S. Government. MOSAIC is a global cooperative agreement (Cooperative Agreement 7200AA21CA00011) led by FHI 360, with core partners Jhpiego, LVCT Health, Pangaea Zimbabwe AIDS Trust, Wits Reproductive Health and HIV Institute, and AVAC.

Acronyms and abbreviations

AGYW Adolescent girls and young women

AMP Acting on MOSAIC Principles

CAB Cabotegravir

DREAMS Determined, Resilient, Empowered, AIDS-free, Mentored and Safe

GBV Gender-based violence

HPTN HIV Prevention Trials Network
IPV Intimate partner violence

LGBTQ Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer

LIVES Listen, inquire, validate, enhance safety, and support

MEL Monitoring, evaluation, and learning

MOSAIC Maximizing Options to Advance Informed Choice for HIV Prevention

MTN Microbicides Trials Network
MYE Meaningful youth engagement

NGS NextGen Squad

PBFP Pregnant and breastfeeding populations

PEP Post-exposure prophylaxis

PEPFAR U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief

PreP Pre-exposure prophylaxis
PZAT Pangaea Zimbabwe AIDS Trust

RHI Reproductive Health and HIV Institute

SOP Standard operating procedure STI Sexually transmitted infection

USAID U.S. Agency for International Development

Trans Transgender

Introduction

Purpose

Adolescent girls and young women (AGYW) are among the groups most affected by HIV; half of all new cases of HIV in sub-Saharan Africa occur among girls and women ages 15–24. Power imbalances and inequitable social norms based on gender and age help drive young women's susceptibility to HIV. They also impede AGYW's ability to use HIV prevention measures, including pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) products.

Because the lives of AGYW and their use of PrFP are shaped by factors related to both gender and age, the Maximizing Options to Advance Informed Choice for HIV Prevention (MOSAIC) project seeks to apply an intersectional lens to address these overlapping elements of their identities and experiences in one strategy document.ⁱ This Gender and Youth Strategy offers an analysis of the gender- and age-related barriers faced by — and the opportunities that could be leveraged in collaboration with — potential users of PrEP. It also provides a blueprint for using gender integration and meaningful youth engagement (MYE) strategies to understand, dismantle, and overcome those barriers while taking advantage of the many opportunities that arise when working with this dynamic, vibrant population to meet their own needs.

This document is meant to be used by implementers of the MOSAIC project and may be a useful resource for others implementing HIV research or projects with AGYW or other marginalized populations.

Project background

MOSAIC is a five-year (2021–2026) global project funded by the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) through the U.S. Agency for International **Gender integration:** Strategies applied in program design, implementation, monitoring, and evaluation to take gender considerations into account and to compensate for gender-based inequalities (Interagency Gender Working Group)¹

Meaningful youth engagement: An inclusive, intentional, mutually respectful partnership between youth and adults whereby power is shared, respective contributions are valued, and young people's ideas, perspectives, skills, and strengths are integrated into the design and delivery of programs, strategies, policies, funding mechanisms, and organizations that affect their lives and their communities, countries, and the world (<u>USAID Youth In Development Policy 2022 Update</u>)²

Intersectionality: An analytical lens that considers and addresses how a person's overlapping identities contribute to experiences of oppression, privilege, and access. Using this lens improves programming by identifying — and strategically addressing — the ways in which inequalities can limit certain people's access to, participation in, and benefit from development interventions (USAID 2023 Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment Policy)³

MOSAIC from a youth perspective

"It's all about meeting people where they are (which is exactly where they'll be using prevention products). It's about understanding, meaningfully engaging, and being responsive and accountable to those for whom PrEP products have so much promise."

(Excerpt from MOSAIC blog post, "A project that really wants to know us": implementing a user-centered approach to PrEP product introduction")⁴

¹ While this strategy is focused on factors related to age and gender, many other intersecting factors — such as race, ethnicity, immigration status, class, and education levels — ultimately affect end users' access and experiences, and MOSAIC will be responsive to other factors that must be addressed for equitable, effective HIV prevention programming.

Development (USAID) to help AGYWⁱⁱ and other womenⁱⁱⁱ prevent HIV by accelerating introduction and scale-up of new and emerging biomedical prevention products.

Our consortium is led by FHI 360 along with core partners Wits Reproductive Health and HIV Institute (Wits RHI), Pangaea Zimbabwe AIDS Trust (PZAT), LVCT Health, Jhpiego, and AVAC. Local partner leadership and engagement, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa, is intrinsic to the project's approach. The work is also supported by technical partners Afton Bloom, Avenir Health, Columbia University, Mann Global Health, RTI International, the University of Pittsburgh, and the University of Washington. Activities are informed by and implemented with the youth advocates who comprise the MOSAIC NextGen Squad (NGS).

Working closely with product developers, MOSAIC advances access to and uptake within a multiproduct market that includes options such as oral PrEP, the dapivirine ring (also called the PrEP ring), and cabotegravir long-acting injectable for PrEP (CAB PrEP). The MOSAIC Consortium works across Botswana, Eswatini, Kenya, Lesotho, Namibia, Nigeria, South Africa, Uganda, Zambia, and Zimbabwe.

The MOSAIC NextGen Squad is a team of paid youth advocates under the age of 30 from Eswatini, Kenya, Lesotho, Namibia, Nigeria, South Africa, Uganda, Zambia, and Zimbabwe. This dynamic group of young people shape and participate in MOSAIC project activities through local partners. They hold MOSAIC accountable to its plans, actions, and monitoring, evaluation, and learning efforts to be responsive to young people's needs, preferences, and lived experiences; be inclusive of the diversity of adolescent girls and young women; and meaningfully engage young people in research and research utilization.

As key staff in gender integration and MYE efforts, the NextGen Squad reviewed the MOSAIC Gender and Youth Strategy and developed their own terms of reference (see Annex C).

MOSAIC has five strategic priorities:

- Promote a user-centered approach in which the needs and preferences of users especially AGYW
 are understood and addressed in product introduction and scale-up.
- 2. Conduct **research to expand the evidence base** on how to effectively enhance product availability, acceptability, uptake, and effective use.
- Coordinate and provide technical assistance to global, national, and subnational stakeholders to
 expedite product introduction in policy and programs by addressing issues related to regulatory
 review, policy development, resource mobilization, supply chain, delivery models and platforms,
 monitoring and evaluation, surveillance, and demand generation.
- 4. Implement research utilization activities and establish mechanisms for rapid, effective knowledge exchange among key stakeholders to facilitate application of existing and emerging evidence on product introduction in policy and programs.
- 5. **Strengthen and sustain local partner capacity** to advocate for, design, and implement high-quality product introduction activities and research.

ⁱⁱ Youth are defined as people ages 10–29 under the USAID Youth in Development Policy 2022 Update.² While the age at which young people can access biomedical prevention products differs from country to country, MOSAIC is focused on AGYW ages 15–29.

^{III} MOSAIC end users include cisgender women, transgender women, and nonbinary people and transgender men assigned female at birth; in addition, specific underrepresented groups within these end-user populations include very young adolescents, sex workers, pregnant and breastfeeding individuals, those engaged in transactional sex, and individuals who use drugs.

A commitment to a user-centered approach is one of the project's strategic priorities. PrEP programs that address gender- and age-related barriers while leveraging opportunities are more successful programs. Therefore, we will underpin our end-user focused efforts with two approaches: gender integration and MYE.

Using this document

This Gender and Youth Strategy is organized to provide readers with an understanding of MOSAIC's big picture vision for gender integration and MYE, the evidence base that informs the vision, the staffing and strategies that help MOSAIC move toward this vision, and specific monitoring tools to capture and share progress. We offer more detail on each of these areas in the annexes.

Big picture vision

- Our overall gender integration and MYE goals are described in "Our vision and guiding principles." The principles summarized in this section are further defined in the full principles document in Annex A.
- O Donor policy documents that informed the vision and principles are summarized in Annex B.

Strategies and staffing

- Staffing and staff responsibilities that facilitate gender integration and MYE across MOSAIC are described in "Operationalizing our commitment to gender integration and MYE."
- The terms of reference of the NextGen Squad, key staff in gender integration and MYE efforts, can be found in Annex C.
- Annex D contains the Acting on MOSAIC Principles (AMP) tool, which is used to measure the
 alignment of activities with our principles across the MOSAIC project and supports central
 and country teams to identify where investments may be useful based on opportunities
 and gaps.
- O The tool used to track gender integration and MYE in our individual activities is available in Annex E. This tracker was developed to support internal management and qualitative data gathering on where and how MOSAIC is making investments in gender integration and MYE. It can also be a resource for qualitative reporting to the project's donor but is not a tool for generating quantitative reports. The tracker allows central and country teams to look across their work plans and (1) document where and how they are investing in gender integration and MYE, including to address opportunities and gaps that they identify using the AMP tool; (2) track progress over time; and (3) reflect on successes, challenges, lessons learned, and best practices.

Evidence base

- We summarize the evidence that informs MOSAIC's research and research utilization activities in "Understanding and responding to unique needs of AGYW" and Annex F.
- "What can be done and what questions remain" addresses crosscutting gender issues that affect AGYW's use of prevention products, specifically as they relate to parents', caregivers', male partners', and health care workers' influence on use, as well as the effects of gender-based violence (GBV), transactional sex, and mental health issues. More detailed reviews on each of these issues can be found in <u>Annex G</u>.
- "Meaningful youth engagement for optimized and sustained impact" is defined in the body
 of the report, with more details on engaging youth in research in <u>Annex H</u>.

Tracking our progress

 In addition to the AMP tool and the Gender Integration and MYE Tracker, we also use performance indicators to track progress. These indicators capture participation and staffing by youth and underrepresented groups in MOSAIC. Guidance on the indicators and age- and gender-disaggregated data can be found in Annex I.

Our vision and guiding principles

We envision MOSAIC as a platform for research and research utilization efforts that make a range of biomedical HIV prevention products more accessible to, easier to effectively use by, and more aligned with the lived experiences of individuals and communities with some of the highest HIV incidence rates in the world. Our approach is guided by the principles that direct our process and lead us toward outcomes that are ultimately more sustainable, equitable, and transformative. These principles not only inform how MOSAIC designs and implements programs and research, but also guide how the MOSAIC team and its partners operate and collaborate.

- Examine and challenge power. To change the harmful systems and norms that continue to fuel the HIV epidemic, we must examine and challenge power and foster healthy interactions and relationships that enable us to scrutinize, and in some cases disrupt, existing hierarchies and binaries across the socioecological model and within the project itself.
- Make all labor visible. To be the change that we want to see more immediately, we must start by valuing and respecting the labor of everyone working to make MOSAIC a successful HIV prevention project.
- Embrace diverse perspectives. Ensuring that individuals with diverse perspectives have the
 - opportunity to share them in ways that allow for full, authentic participation helps us acknowledge the complexity of humanity and facilitates our ability to make HIV prevention products responsive to that reality.
- Prioritize responsiveness to local context. Although HIV is a global epidemic, addressing it effectively requires understanding and responding to local priorities, preferences, and lived experiences.
- Center the safety and well-being of those most affected by HIV.
 Upholding each person's right to security and well-being creates an enabling environment for HIV prevention that increases the safety and affirms the dignity of people most affected by HIV.

MOSAIC works toward a world where a diversity of AGYW and other women...

- ...learn about biomedical prevention products in a nonstigmatizing environment where they feel safe and encouraged to ask questions and weigh personal preferences
- ...can knowledgeably compare a range of products and decide, for themselves, which one best meets their current needs
- ...are supported by providers, partners, parents, caregivers, friends, and community leaders to take the action that they view as best meeting their HIV prevention needs
- ...have access to a range of products and can move between products, with support, as their needs, preferences, and experiences change

Because the "how" is as important as the "what," MOSAIC is committed to a process for creating change that is principled, is led by and designed with young people, and acknowledges the lived realities of both those served by the project and those implementing and collaborating with it.

Operationalizing our commitment to gender integration and meaningful youth engagement

The core of our work on gender integration and MYE is organized under MOSAIC Result 1 (User-Centered Approach). However, this work is crosscutting, and our staffing structures underscore this reality.

How we work

Central level: A minimum of five MOSAIC staff members help inform and guide activities at the central level. These staff members work across the other strategic priorities and contribute directly to activities under Results 2–5. In addition to providing guidance centrally, those at the central level:

- Lead monitoring, learning, and evaluation related to gender integration and MYE across the project
- Create and facilitate opportunities to share promising practices across countries
- Backstop country teams
- Convene the global gender and youth team (which consists of all country leads and NextGen Squad members) and the stand-alone NextGen Squad
- Facilitate the annual AMP self-assessment process with central result teams

Country level: In each MOSAIC country, at least one staff person serves as the **gender and youth country lead**. Country leads focus on ensuring gender integration and MYE across all local activities. Many of these leads also serve as focal points for partnership and engagement with civil society and community stakeholders to ensure an integrated approach.

These leads:

- Contribute to global deliverables
- Mentor youth advocates, including NextGen Squad members and advocates from their country youth networks and advisory groups
- Directly engage young stakeholders and underrepresented groups
- Document promising practices in gender integration and MYE for scale-up across countries
- Lead local implementation of activities designed to shift gender norms, increase MYE, and address GBV
- Facilitate the annual AMP self-assessment process with their country teams

In addition to the gender and youth country leads, the MOSAIC team includes **youth advocates.** Most countries have a youth advocate who is a full-time MOSAIC team member and serves as a country representative on the MOSAIC NextGen Squad (see <u>Annex C for their Terms of Reference</u>). Some countries have a second youth advocate who serves as a general member of the NextGen Squad. In addition to their roles on the NextGen Squad, youth advocates also:

- Plan and implement events and campaigns
- Facilitate and support training of AGYW using the HIV Prevention Ambassador Training Package
- Support trained HIV Prevention Ambassadors to set up their own ambassador groups and train peers
- Liaise with stakeholders on healthy lifestyle programs and collaborate to inform the implementation of MOSAIC
- Prepare and make presentations about project activities to community groups, advisory boards, USAID, and broader consortium members

Understanding and responding to the unique needs of AGYW

Many gender-related and age-related barriers influence AGYW's willingness and ability to initiate and effectively use PrEP products.^{5–10} These include individual barriers such as limited privacy and autonomy, lack of economic resources, lack of awareness, myths and misconceptions, and self-stigma. AGYW also face barriers to PrEP use that are informed by gender norms and gender- and age-related expectations and power dynamics. These barriers include lack of family and partner support and anticipated and experienced stigma, discrimination, and intimate partner violence (IPV) at the interpersonal and community levels and policies, laws, and access to resources at the societal level. Transgender AGYW experience additional barriers to information and services based on gender identity.⁸ As a result, the number of both cisgender and trans AGYW who initiate prevention products is far below the number who could benefit from them.^{11–13}

Norms around AGYW and PrEP use

Both globally and in countries where MOSAIC operates, studies have pointed to entrenched gender inequalities and restrictive gender norms around AGYW's sexuality that limit their choices, increase their susceptibility to HIV, and act as a barrier to PrEP uptake. ^{14–17} A study on PrEP engagement among cisgender AGYW in Eastern Zimbabwe found that young women grappled with the choice between "the social risks of stigmatization or risks of HIV acquisition." ¹⁷ Cisgender AGYW were also deterred from PrEP initiation due to community stigma and potential ostracization by being labeled as promiscuous, accused of infidelity, suspected of engaging in transactional sex, or suspected of living with HIV if they took PrEP. ^{16–21} Young transgender women's ability to prevent HIV — for example, negotiating decisions about sex and PrEP use — is also affected by gender power imbalances and is further complicated by transphobia-fueled violence, stigma, and discrimination in health facilities and rejection from society. ^{22,23}

While community leaders do not typically engage with AGYW on these topics and they are not preferred sources of information among AGYW, they do influence gender norms and can help to reduce stigma and foster support for AGYW's PrEP use among parents, partners, and health care workers. Evidence on interventions that engage with parents, partners, and health care workers — including those that aim to transform harmful gender norms and power imbalances and reduce stigma — can be found in Table 1.

Given the unique experiences and needs of cisgender and transgender AGYW, these two groups are described separately. <u>Annex F</u> provides additional information about the barriers AGYW face to using HIV prevention products and their need for these products.

This section summarizes what we know and what we need to know about how to improve AGYW's access to and use of HIV prevention products. Much of the content comes from a scoping review on interventions that support cisgender and transgender AGYW's interest in, uptake of, and effective use of oral PrEP.⁵ Although much of the real-world evidence to date comes from oral PrEP implementation and rollout, evidence from trials of the PrEP ring and CAB PrEP is also referenced where applicable.

What works for cisgender AGYW and research gaps

Oral PrEP uptake and continuation among cisgender AGYW in sub-Saharan Africa have been studied extensively. These studies have shown that comprehensive, youth-focused strategies can improve the effective use of HIV prevention products among this population. Interventions that are designed for youth, especially AGYW, have shown higher rates of success in comparison to interventions that targeted a general audience. ^{25,26} It is important to acknowledge AGYW's needs in PrEP programming and provide youth-centered support to increase rates of continuation in this population. Addressing holistic needs, using gender integration strategies, and integrating PrEP into other services are also promising approaches.

Effective strategies and remaining questions for cisgender AGYW

Holistic programming

- Recent evidence suggests that a holistic, community-based approach to PrEP program implementation among AGYW might be needed, ^{27,28} a conclusion also supported by the scoping review.⁵
- Tu'Washinidi, an intervention designed to promote oral PrEP uptake and continuation in the context of GBV and unequal relationship power, was implemented in DREAMS (Determined, Resilient, Empowered, AIDS-free, Mentored and Safe) safe spaces in Kenya.²⁹ This intervention improved both PrEP initiation and continuation among cisgender AGYW.³⁰

Youth focus

- Programmatic layering in youth-focused spaces,³⁰ which is defined as deploying multiple interventions
 at the individual and community levels,³¹ has been shown to result in the highest continuation rates
 among cisgender AGYW.^{6,32–34}
- Interventions that targeted a more general audience often had lower rates of success among younger participants.^{25,26} If an oral PrEP program is not youth-focused, it is important to acknowledge AGYW's needs and provide additional youth-centered support to counter the anticipated lower rates of continuation.

Gender integration

HIV programs that use well-designed and implemented gender integration strategies have shown improvements in both gender and HIV outcomes among adults. These include improved gender equitable beliefs, ^{35,36} improved partner communication, ^{36,37} more equitable decision making and household task sharing, ^{37,38} and reduced IPV, ^{35–41} as well as increases in HIV prevention behaviors ^{35–40} and decreases in HIV incidence. ⁴¹ Although gender integration strategies have been applied in PrEP interventions and improved PrEP outcomes among AGYW (Table 1), more comprehensive, multilevel approaches are needed to truly transform power imbalances and inequitable gender norms.

Integration with other services

• Results from included studies found that it is feasible to integrate oral PrEP into a range of settings serving AGYW. For cisgender AGYW, these include settings where other sexual and reproductive health services are offered, such as family planning, ^{25,42–45} maternal and child health, ⁴⁶ post-abortion care, ⁴⁷ DREAMS programming, ^{32,48} and services for female sex workers. ⁴⁹ The benefits of providing different service delivery options are evident from study results presented at recent conferences as well as the studies included in a scoping review. ⁵ For example, in one study from Kenya, AGYW preferred to access PrEP via drop-in-centers designed for sex workers and men who have sex with men over other clinical settings. ⁵⁰

Research gaps

Specific research gaps identified in the scoping review⁵ include:

- Continuation remains a central challenge and warrants further exploration.⁵¹ More consistent
 measures of continuation, stopping, and starting and a clearer metric defining success are needed.^{52–54}
- Implementation research is needed on how to support AGYW's stopping and starting of PrEP products or moving between products.
- AGYW's lives are complex and reducing their exposure to HIV requires a multi-faceted approach.
 Research questions should consider that PrEP products should be offered as part of a comprehensive HIV prevention package that addresses the biological, behavioral, and structural needs of AGYW.
- HIV prevention product research can broaden what it measures. Recording outcomes beyond PrEP uptake or continuation (and ultimately HIV acquisition) could help determine whether AGYW are engaging in a range of prevention behaviors (e.g., condom use, less transactional sex, new prevention technology use) resulting from their program exposure, as well as assessing a program's impact on protective assets, such as increased social support networks, self-worth, and partner communication.⁵⁴

What works for transgender AGYW and research gaps

Although the data are sparse, PrEP uptake seems to constitute a more substantive challenge for transgender AGYW than continuation. The scoping review demonstrated better outcomes when a program was responsive to the specific needs of trans AGYW,⁵ highlighting the need for interventions tailored according to population. Key population-friendly spaces that offer holistic services are able to attract trans AGYW and support their effective continuation of PrEP.⁵⁵ Online apps were not tested extensively in the included studies but are used more frequently with transgender AGYW. Recent efforts seek to understand how specific channels (e.g., WhatsApp, Instagram, Grindr, word of mouth) may attract different segments of the trans AGYW population, including assessing which channels are more likely to identify potential users with a sexually transmitted infection (online apps) or a history of sex work (word of mouth).⁵⁶

Effective strategies and remaining questions for transgender AGYW

While data are limited, each of these approaches show promise:

- Chatbots with transgender personas have been successful in helping trans AGYW understand PrEP and make appointments in Brazil.⁵⁷
- Integration of PrEP for trans AGYW is feasible in existing lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer (LGBTQ)-focused spaces in Thailand and the United States, 55,58 public facilities in Kenya and Thailand, 59,60 and new PrEP-focused comprehensive services designed for and implemented by key populations in Thailand. 26

Research gaps

More data are needed to inform decision-making on investments in PrEP programs and service delivery for trans AGYW.⁵ Even less research has been conducted among trans men and nonbinary individuals, leading to limited information on HIV prevention for these populations.

- Two large clinical trials with cisgender women have shown that the PrEP ring reduces HIV risk by about 30 percent. ^{61,62} Open-label studies and adherence analyses suggest that the chance of acquiring HIV is reduced by about 50 percent or more with consistent use of the ring. ^{63–65} Research on the PrEP ring to date has only included people who were assigned female at birth, and they were not asked about their gender identity. More research is needed to better understand uptake and continued use of the PrEP ring by trans men and nonbinary people assigned female at birth.
- A safety and efficacy trial found that CAB PrEP was highly effective in preventing HIV acquisition among trans women who have sex with men. 66 Implementation research will be needed to explore CAB PrEP uptake and continuation among trans AGYW in programmatic settings.
- Research is needed to determine what interventions successfully encourage uptake of different PrEP products, the most challenging step in the PrEP cascade for trans AGYW.
- Where transgender-specific research is not possible, efforts are needed to ensure that recruitment strategies, study design, and intervention components are trans-inclusive and that support mechanisms are responsive to the specific needs of trans AGYW.
- Study staff for HIV prevention product research centering cisgender AGYW need training to ensure that they avoid discriminatory behaviors toward trans participants (including misgendering and inappropriate questions) and provide sensitive and competent care (including using gender-affirming language and providing counseling on questions such as hormone interaction that may affect trans participants' decisions about product use).

Crosscutting issues: What can be done and what questions remain?

As described above, AGYW face many gender-related barriers to use of HIV prevention products that often intersect with age-related barriers. Often the same actors, such as parents or male partners, can be either barriers or facilitators of their use. Annex G summarizes what is known about the key crosscutting issues affecting AGYW's potential for exposure to HIV and use of prevention products, including relationships and interactions with parents and caregivers, partners, and health care workers; gender-based violence; transactional sex; and mental health.

Table 1 summarizes what we know about interventions to address these crosscutting issues and how we can incorporate them in prevention product policy, practice, and research.

Table 1. Crosscutting issues: evidence, implications for policy and practice, and questions for further research

Evidence	Implications for policy and practice	Questions for further research
PARENTS AND CAREGIVERS		
The Rethabile Family Caring Programme in Lesotho engages adolescent-caregiver pairs in weekly sessions and home practice activities designed to strengthen their relationships, improve communication, and help them develop strategies for addressing a range of issues, including HIV, violence, substance abuse, stress, depression, and harsh parenting practices. Among AGYW who participated in the program, sexual risk taking decreased, measures of self-efficacy and hope rose, and the ability to discuss sensitive topics with caregivers improved. For the Our Family Our Future intervention in South Africa engages adolescent-caregiver pairs in three weekly group sessions, one individualized family session, and take-home activities to prevent HIV, sexually transmitted infections (STIs), and depression among adolescents. In a pilot randomized controlled trial, the intervention showed high acceptability and feasibility; reduced depressive symptoms; increased knowledge, motivation, intentions, and self-efficacy for protective HIV/STI behaviors; and improved family interactions and resilience. An efficacy trial of the intervention is currently ongoing. Data collected during the baseline showed that parents were more supportive of their adolescents using oral PrEP than the adolescents expected. However, PrEP uptake was not measured as the product was not available to trial participants.	 Ensure that regulatory frameworks remove barriers, such as requirements for parental consent, for younger adolescents (under 18) as much as possible. Encourage the uptake of PrEP-focused parenting materials, such as the Parenting module on PrEP, in DREAMS programs and existing family strengthening programs that aim to improve adolescent-caregiver communication on sexual health. Strengthen referrals between family strengthening programs and PrEP service delivery points. 	 How can parents be allies in supporting AGYW who are interested in PrEP products? What types of adolescent-caregiver interventions show the most impact on PrEP uptake and effective continuation? How can parent and caregiver engagement be leveraged to encourage AGYW participation in implementation research?

Evidence Implications for policy and practice Questions for further research

MALE PARTNERS

Research shows that engaging men broadly, and male partners in particular, can have long-term positive effects on the gendered realities that contribute to high HIV prevalence among cisgender adult women in Africa at both the individual and societal levels. ^{70,71} For example, Stepping Stones, a community training program aimed at improving gender equity in relationships, has increased protective behaviors around sex and HIV. ⁴⁰ Programs that engage men as clients, partners, and change agents have shown success in improving sexual and reproductive health outcomes and changing normative beliefs for cisgender adults in some countries. ^{72,73}

Research among women and AGYW using oral PrEP or microbicides — including the PrEP ring — found that male partner acceptance of PrEP use and encouragement in the form of social support and medication reminders has a positive influence on use. ^{74–76} In fact, qualitative studies among male partners of adult ring users highlight that many men have a desire to be involved and support their partners' HIV prevention strategies. ⁷⁷

- Design communication and demand creation campaigns in ways that include men as partners of PrEP users and as PrEP users themselves.
- Build collaborations with organizations and projects that engage cisgender men who partner with AGYW to promote coordination and gender synchronous work.
- Encourage the uptake and use of successful male engagement programs where appropriate within MOSAIC activities and among collaborators.
- Provide couples' and group counseling regarding PrEP uptake to dispel PrEP initiation stigma within a relationship and encourage effective use.

- Do ongoing efforts to engage male partners of cisgender AGYW change men's behavior, and if so, how does that affect PrEP use?⁷⁸
- How can the engagement of male partners influence the use of prevention products among trans women and trans AGYW?
 The research on this question is especially limited, particularly in Africa.⁷⁹
- What are the best ways to engage male partners as supporters of PrEP use while prioritizing the autonomy of PrEP users?

HEALTH CARE WORKERS

Health care workers often serve as gatekeepers of biomedical HIV prevention, with their knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs about PrEP influencing their willingness to offer PrEP.80–82 Research shows that health care worker bias, including moral stances on sexual activity among young unmarried women, often influence clinical guidance, and

- Conduct anti-stigma and discrimination training for all levels of staff in health facilities, including community health workers, receptionists, administrative staff, and guards, to reduce barriers for AGYW to access services. These trainings
- What is the impact of interventions that use a "total facility approach" — such as involving all staff, examining biases and values, and engaging staff to develop their own anti-

Evidence

poor treatment of AGYW by clinic staff affects PrEP uptake. 80,83-86

A "total facility approach" of working with health facility staff in Ghana and Tanzania to develop stigma-reduction activities that address HIV stigma at multiple levels (individual client-provider interactions, interactions among staff, and institutional policies, procedures, and communications) and involving employees at all staff levels proved feasible and was well-accepted. ⁸⁷ The stigma and discrimination reduction training component of the "total facility approach" was adapted to focus on PrEP stigma and AGYW and is being evaluated as part of the PREPARE Project in Pretoria. ^{80,84}

In addition to addressing health care worker bias, effective youth-responsive approaches include creating linkages with community-based approaches that reach AGYW where they are, such as peer ambassadors, PrEP clubs, and mobile clinics; 34,88–91 creating spaces that foster confidence, privacy, and confidentiality, such as safe spaces in DREAMS programming and youth-friendly PrEP clinics; 32,55,83 and integrating PrEP into other services that AGYW readily seek out, such as sexual and reproductive services for cisgender AGYW and LGBTQ-focused spaces for transgender AGYW.5,55,58

Implications for policy and practice

- should build awareness about clinic stigma toward AGYW and how that stigma affects AGYW clients and should encourage reflection on the biases and values underlying staff interactions with AGYW clients. Trainings should culminate in staff building a plan with actionable steps to identify and address biases. Training can be reinforced through job aids, mentorship, supportive supervision, and refresher training.
- Create and operationalize guidance on nonjudgmental, confidential, and rightsbased approaches to engaging AGYW and other underrepresented populations.

Questions for further research

- stigma activities on provider bias and the uptake of PrEP by AGYW?
- What is the impact of empathy building exercises, such as <u>Empathways</u>, on provider bias and the uptake of PrEP by AGYW?

GENDER-BASED VIOLENCE

Relationships and exposure to GBV can be starting points for conversations about PrEP, particularly in cases where PrEP can support AGYW exposed to GBV.⁹²

The EMPOWER study investigated combination HIV prevention packages, including PrEP, for AGYW in Tanzania and South Africa. In the PrEP demonstration project, most stakeholders, including clinical staff and AGYW clients, thought GBV screening during HIV testing and prior to the offer of PrEP was acceptable and feasible if the principles of staff confidentiality, empathy, and nonjudgment were followed. However, uptake of referrals remained low.⁹³

Similarly, Microbicides Trials Network (MTN) 025/HOPE study sites in Malawi, South Africa, Uganda, and Zimbabwe demonstrated that using tailored standard operating procedures (SOPs) to identify and respond to GBV is feasible in PrEP research settings. Staff reported increased training, improved confidence, and more on-site support for vicarious trauma, and leadership reported increased staff skills in GBV response. However, social norms normalizing GBV and limited referral networks were a barrier in providing support to participants.⁹⁴

The Tu'Washinidi intervention promoted oral PrEP uptake and continuation among AGYW in Kenya who were at risk of IPV through empowerment-based support clubs, community sensitization meetings for male partners, and couples' PrEP

- Build understanding of the dynamics of IPV and GBV within MOSAIC teams and challenge the normalization of violence within ourselves and the communities where we work.
- Adequately assess and address experiences of emotional IPV and its subdomains (verbal IPV and threats).
- Engage AGYW through human-centered design processes to understand their GBV response needs and how they prefer to be actively engaged in responding to their peers who have experienced violence, prioritizing the foundational principle of GBV programming to "first, do no harm."
- Strengthen the integration of GBV identification and response, including first-line support (for example, LIVES Listen, Inquire, Validate, Enhance Safety, and Support) and robust referral networks, into PrEP services for AGYW during PrEP initiation and follow-up visits in line with PEPFAR minimum requirements for asking about violence, using tools such as the SOP and job aid for addressing GBV in PrEP services.

- What are the differential effects of various types of IPV on PrEP use (disaggregated by age, sex assigned at birth, and gender identity as well as by PrEP product)?
- What strategies are effective for promoting nonviolent, genderequitable, empowered relationships in adolescence? Do these strategies also affect PrEP use and disclosure among AGYW?
- How can researchers improve operational definitions and the safety, ethics, and scientific quality of data collection on violence against adolescents, bearing in mind possible gender and age differences in disclosure and experiences?
- What is the client and participant experience when GBV identification and response SOPs are implemented as part of PrEP service delivery?

Implications for policy and practice **Evidence** Questions for further research education events. This multi-level intervention was • How can violence response Challenge harmful gender norms that implemented in DREAMS safe spaces and improved both promote masculinity based on violence clinical services be used as entry PrEP initiation and continuation among cisgender AGYW.³⁰ and control and build healthy points to PrEP use? relationships skills (e.g., communication The CHARISMA empowerment counseling intervention and conflict resolution) to encourage sought to help women in South Africa use new HIV partner support for PrEP initiation and prevention products by promoting effective partner continuation and to prevent IPV. communication and mitigating the risk of IPV. While the intervention was feasible and acceptable, a randomized controlled trial found that it did not have impacts on PrEP adherence or relationship dynamics over and above that of the standard of care. However, disclosures to male partners were significantly higher among women in the intervention.95 CHARISMA was adapted into the selfadministered CHARISMA Mobile website, which showed high acceptability, usefulness, safety, and confidentiality feedback results during pilot testing.96 The PrEPARE Project in Pretoria adapted the Young Women's Health CoOP (YWHC) empowerment intervention to include information about PrEP, the importance of PrEP adherence, and sexual and reproductive health. The project aims to increase PrEP readiness, uptake, and adherence and reduce GBV, substance use, and HIV incidence among

AGYW.84 An evaluation of the intervention in ongoing.

Evidence	Implications for policy and practice	Questions for further research
MENTAL HEALTH		
Research shows a strong association between behaviors that increase potential exposure to HIV and unmet mental health needs. 97–100 Substantial evidence indicates that women, and AGYW in particular, face a higher burden of depression, especially in lower- and middle-income countries. 101–105 Depression can reduce PrEP adherence among adults, and both depression and post-traumatic stress disorder are associated with decreased PrEP adherence among AGYW and other women in the postpartum period. 106 However, research on the association between depressive symptoms and PrEP adherence among AGYW is still limited. Most studies that examined this question suggest that the integration of mental health screening and treatment into PrEP programs may improve PrEP effectiveness among African women; however, more research is needed. 107	 Integrate mental health screening into PrEP programs. Establish referral networks to provide mental health and psychosocial support services to participants with depressive symptoms. 	 How can mental health and psychosocial support be integrated into HIV prevention services? What effect does the integration of mental health and psychosocial support into HIV prevention services have on PrEP use among AGYW, particularly for those with depression (disaggregated by age, sex assigned at birth, and gender identity and by PrEP product)?
TRANSACTIONAL SEX		
Some interventions have shown a reduction in transactional sex among AGYW; however, few were specifically designed to address transactional sex ¹⁰⁸ and none were designed in the context of PrEP products. The most effective way to address the links between HIV and transactional sex is in combination with HIV prevention and social and economic empowerment programming and not through stand-alone programs on transactional sex. ¹⁰⁸	 Assess the context in which transactional sex occurs (see questions in the next column). In contexts where transactional sex increases cisgender or transgender AGYWs' likelihood of acquiring HIV, ensure AGYW can access PrEP products within an HIV combination prevention package. 	Assess the context with the following questions: What is the prevalence of transactional sex in this context (among cisgender AGYW, among transgender AGYW)? What are the specific motivations for engaging in transactional sex (including gender norms and expectations)?

Evidence

Evaluation results from the DREAMS partnership in Kenya show that school support reduced the likelihood of engaging in transactional sex among adolescent girls, and a package of school support, youth entrepreneurship, and social support programs (e.g., parenting, male partner, GBV prevention) reduced the likelihood of engaging in transactional sex among young women.¹⁰⁹

Implications for policy and practice

- Address the multiple, interrelated motivations for transactional sex in HIV combination prevention programs.
- Encourage critical reflection on gender norms and power dynamics as they relate to transactional sex and HIV prevention, including recognizing the power and agency of AGYW, promoting gender-equitable relationships, and building positive gender norms around love and care.
- Integrate messaging about transactional sex related to relationship dynamics and short- and long-term aspirations and costs in interpersonal communication (e.g., help AGYW reframe their long-term aspirations toward self-reliance).

Questions for further research

- How do cisgender and transgender AGYW see themselves in these relationships (i.e., how do they perceive their level of power or agency)?
- Under what conditions do these relationships increase the likelihood of acquiring HIV (among cisgender AGYW, among transgender AGYW)?

The MOSAIC project has begun to address many of the policy and practice implications and research gaps identified in Table 1. The following box outlines a few examples of gender integration activities across the result areas of MOSAIC.

Illustrative gender integration activities under MOSAIC

- **User-centered approach:** Engage AGYW through human-centered design processes to explore the acceptability and feasibility of a post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) to PrEP resource package.
- Research: Analyze the effects of various types of IPV on PrEP use patterns in the CATALYST study.
- **Policy and programs:** Analyze existing PrEP policies around pregnant and breastfeeding populations (PBFP) and create tools to support countries to advocate for the inclusion of PrEP in national policies for PBFP.
- **Demand generation:** Update and roll out tools such as the HIV Prevention Ambassador Training Package and Empathways for underrepresented populations.
- Local partner capacity: Train local partners on concepts related to gender, gender integration, and power dynamics based on their capacity assessments.

Meaningful youth engagement for optimized and sustained impact

In the same way that we must be systematic and intentional in countering the effects of harmful gender norms, we must also acknowledge that young people have been sidelined and denied the opportunity to be the architects of their own futures. Based on intersecting stigmas, this is especially true for AGYW, who deal with the double burden of being young and female (and, for some, young and transgender).

Thus, all efforts to address gender-related barriers and leverage opportunities for change among cisgender and transgender AGYW will be improved by employing MYE. According to the USAID Youth In Development Policy 2022 Update,² MYE can be defined as,"... an inclusive, intentional, mutually respectful partnership between youth and adults whereby power is shared, respective contributions are valued, and young people's ideas, perspectives, skills, and strengths are integrated into the design and delivery of programs, strategies, policies, funding mechanisms, and organizations that affect their lives and their communities, countries, and the world." The Global Consensus Statement on Meaningful Adolescent and Youth Engagement adds that "meaningful adolescent and youth engagement recognizes and changes the power structures that prevent young people from being considered experts regarding their own needs and priorities, while also building their leadership capacities."¹¹⁰

Youth engagement can also be referred to as youth involvement, youth participation, youth voice, and youth in governance. The evidence on how to engage young people in research is described in Annex H. The ways in which the NextGen Squad is integrated in the design and implementation of MOSAIC activities both locally and globally is described in Annex C, and performance indicators to capture participation and staffing by young people in MOSAIC are listed in Annex I.

Closing

The MOSAIC Gender and Youth Strategy will be a core component of all Result 1 activities and will inform all other activities throughout MOSAIC's operation. Efforts to disseminate and sensitize all MOSAIC consortium members and result leads on the strategy will begin in Quarter 1 of 2023, but refresher training on the strategy and continued reviews of the strategy to determine areas for growth will occur throughout the life of the project.

We believe that this ambitious strategy will not only influence how MOSAIC operates but also strengthen the impact of MOSAIC research and research utilization activities. By following the approaches, and particularly the principles, outlined in this strategy, MOSAIC will ensure that the project's thought leadership on a combined approach to gender integration and MYE will ultimately influence the broader field of HIV research and programming, helping move the needle toward gender equity and young people's determination of their own destinies.

Annex A. Principles for gender integration and MYE: A foundation for ethical, equitable, and effective access to HIV prevention products

Introduction

In support of the overall vision for MOSAIC, we have developed a set of principles that will guide the project and inspire action across the HIV prevention field. These principles are the foundation of — and will support progress toward — an ethical, equitable, and effective project that generates and uses research to improve access to HIV prevention products through a commitment to gender equity and meaningful youth engagement (MYE). These principles not only inform how MOSAIC designs and implements programs and research, but also guide how the MOSAIC team and its partners operate and collaborate. Each of these intersecting principles helps us articulate, develop, and be accountable for using approaches that prioritize transparent interactions and sustainable collaborations and systems.

Underpinning these principles is a commitment to Good Participatory Practice¹¹¹ and the belief that facilitating equitable access to high-quality, stigma-free, comprehensive HIV prevention services is part of promoting and protecting human rights — particularly the right to health. The principles also align with taking a trauma-informed^v approach to interacting with marginalized communities. They recognize that the "Nothing about us without us" philosophy is what makes HIV programs effective, in part by shining a light on the need to challenge the underlying power dynamics that fuel the HIV epidemic.

Understanding these principles will help all of MOSAIC — its implementers, government partners, service delivery personnel and institutions, donors, advocates, and civil society organizations — identify existing strengths and areas for growth. Operationalizing these principles will be an ongoing component of the project, based in self-assessment via the Acting on MOSAIC Principles (AMP) tool to identify and track areas for organizational growth among all MOSAIC partners.

Principles

- 1. Examine and challenge power.
- 2. Make all labor visible.
- 3. Embrace diverse perspectives shared in authentic voices.
- 4. Prioritize responsiveness to local context, preferences, and lived experiences.
- 5. Center the safety and well-being of individuals and communities most affected by HIV.

For each of the MOSAIC principles, we state **why the principle is important**, with links to useful references, and **what it means** in the context of MOSAIC. We also describe the **truths underlying** each principle. These truths are the building blocks that will help MOSAIC operate according to each principle. They are directly referenced in the annual AMP tool that each country team and central result team will use to support the operationalization of the principles.

While these principles emphasize youth engagement and gender integration, many other intersecting factors — such as race, ethnicity, immigration status, class, education levels — ultimately affect end users' access and experiences, and MOSAIC is committed to being responsive to other factors that must be addressed for equitable and effective HIV prevention programming.

^v Trauma-informed care calls for a change in organizational culture to emphasize understanding, respecting, and appropriately responding to the effects of trauma at all levels.¹¹²

To change the harmful systems and norms that created and fuel the HIV epidemic, we must examine and challenge power and foster healthy interactions and relationships that enable us to scrutinize, and in some cases disrupt, existing hierarchies and binaries across the socioecological model and within the project itself. Why is this important? Power is often defined as having control, authority, or influence over others ("power over") or the ability to achieve one's goals ("power to"). 113 It can also refer to control over resources — such as finances, knowledge, information, time, and attention. When power is not examined or challenged, the outcomes created by unequal distribution of power cannot be interrogated or altered. 114

Unequal distribution of power often occurs within and helps to maintain hierarchies. Hierarchies are systems in which people or groups are ranked one above the other according to status or authority. Although hierarchies can be important (e.g., advanced levels of clinical training allow some health care workers to safely perform a specific medical procedure), they can also be used to reinforce and validate systems where the traditionally well-resourced and powerful are considered worthy of regard while others, and their opinions, are considered to have limited value. For example, a Ministry of Health official may decide to encourage men to come to reproductive health clinics by prioritizing couples, thereby making single women wait longer. Or an adult leader of a youth group may decide where to convene young people without input from youth themselves, leading to meeting locations that young women cannot access safely during evenings. In each of these cases, the belief that a more powerful person knows best results in an approach that does not meet the real needs of those who are meant to benefit.

Binaries, which often contain and hide hierarchies, can play the same role. Binaries often distinguish between those with more and those with less power, thereby deciding whose voice matters and whose does not. They can also force individuals to choose from two options that either lack nuance or simply do not fit, potentially leaving out entire populations who may benefit from HIV prevention research and programs. For example, the pervasive gender binary (male/female) is a specific construct that assumes each person's gender is "apparent at birth, stable over time, salient and meaningful to the self, and a powerful predictor of a host of psychological variables." The fact that these assumptions are often untrue does not prevent this binary from dictating many social and legal outcomes (e.g., who can inherit, who can marry, who is given parental leave after birth) and identifying those who do not fit within the binary as "other." 117

Examining and challenging power, including the hierarchies and binaries that reflect and support it, is critical to the success of MOSAIC because concentrated, unequal power is a root cause of the HIV epidemic that perpetuates the conditions that result in a disproportionate burden of HIV among those with less power. ¹¹⁸ Challenging power within our own operations and the systems that we work in will contribute to a broader shift in how power is used and who has access to that power, allowing MOSAIC to lead by example.

Demonstrating a commitment to this principle

Examining power means analyzing how a system is designed, by whom, and for whom the system works and does not work. To challenge power means to expose imbalances of power by explicitly addressing them and trying to re-balance the system in a way that acknowledges each person's right to the resources and freedoms they need to survive and thrive. In our efforts to examine and challenge power, it is crucial that we all work to understand and amplify the voices of those with less power, regardless of context. This work involves having difficult, and often uncomfortable, conversations. (It is important to recognize that unsafe and uncomfortable conversation are distinct from one another; proactively creating conversation ground rules to avoid making those with less power feel unsafe is an important first step.)

Rethinking hierarchies and binaries ensures that we do not simply go along with past constructs because they exist. Instead, we must question the purpose these constructs serve and be mindful of the negative consequences they may engender, working to take corrective action whenever possible. Even when hierarchies and binaries play a valuable role, they should not keep us from valuing the unique contributions that come from diverse perspectives, which will all be important if we are to respond effectively to the complexities of real life.

Underlying truths

- Understanding existing power dynamics and their contributions to inequality is the first step toward changing them.
- Pushing back on power in its current distribution, including by rethinking hierarchies/binaries, is part of addressing the inequities that created the HIV epidemic.
- Changing culture to allow for difficult conversations and shifts in power is an important step.
- Continually asking ourselves questions about our actions will enable us to realign them toward challenging power.
- Choice, collaboration, and empowerment are key aspects of a trauma-informed approach, and all require challenging power.

2. Make all labor visible

Full principle	Larger systems change takes time. To be the change that we want to see more immediately, we must start by focusing on areas within our control, including how we value and respect the labor of everyone working to make MOSAIC a successful HIV prevention project.
Why is this important?	One way in which hierarchies and binaries function in a workplace setting is that the labor of those in the nonprivileged groups is often unacknowledged or undervalued. Considering research specifically, beliefs regarding what should be counted as knowledge (for example, the work of scientists, versus the efforts of those, such as community health workers, with less education but potentially more lived experience) reflect hierarchies. Hierarchies regarding what is valuable are also passed on through the types of products most valued: peer-reviewed journal articles published, grants awarded, and leadership positions achieved. Not only are these types of labor traditionally performed by cisgender men, older, wealthier, and more educated individuals, and those who are members of dominant religious/racial/ethnic groups — reinforcing ideas about who contributes — but they are also only one component of a much larger whole (i.e., a research study that required thousands of participants, hundreds of staff, and dozens of analysts). Elevating these types of labor alone erases others' efforts that ultimately contribute to these more visible products but are also of value in and of themselves. Other forms of labor are equally or more important to setting up healthy and productive societies. For example, emotional labor, vi which is disproportionately taken up by cisgender women and people of color, vii is rarely officially recognized or compensated but allows for the large-scale cooperation necessary for effective collaboration and is particularly important during periods of stress and uncertainty, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. This type of labor is all the more important in a project designed to support those made vulnerable to HIV and other negative outcomes by societal norms and structures, in which being witness to and responding appropriately when faced with trauma and other difficult lived experiences is part of everyday work.
Demonstrating	Making labor visible means that while we work to change access to positions that have
a commitment	long been seen as powerful (e.g., principal researcher, manager, doctor), we
to this principle	simultaneously acknowledge that any work done by individuals in these positions is dependent on the equally vital labor of many others. By making all forms of labor visible
	— be it mentorship, effective note-taking, serving as a sounding board, strong copy
	editing, supportive supervision, setting up and breaking down for events, or custodial
	duties — we start a conversation about who is contributing and widen our
	understanding (while better aligning it to reality) of the kinds of skills and tasks necessary for a world in which everyone can thrive.

vi Emotional labor is defined by the Oxford Dictionary as "the mental activity required to manage or perform the routine tasks necessary for maintaining relationships and ensuring smooth running of a household or process."

vii Research on the disproportionate burden of emotional labor did not include a review of transgender or nonbinary persons.

Making all labor visible also means the diversity of people with important additions to conversations on collective health and wellness — including those who may have less formal education, such as community health care workers, advocates, and end users — also have the opportunity to raise and amplify their voices in research design, policy creation, and the planning and implementation of demand generation activities.

On the level of personal interaction and organizational functioning, making labor visible also applies to emotional labor. Acknowledging and systematically sharing the work of emotional labor prevents those who are de facto "human givers" (generally those socialized to see their contributions to society as support to others) from always taking on this generally unpaid role. 120

Making labor visible also entails checking in and caring for ourselves, and building structures that allow for this care, when our labors become overwhelming. Burnout is currently a public health crisis and has caused widespread resignations across the health sector. Acknowledging and protecting boundaries to respect well-being — for example, considering mental health and work/life balance as we set timetables for production — allows each of us to operate in a way that more fully acknowledges our humanity, our colleagues' humanity, and the humanity of those MOSAIC serves, lessening risks of burnout and improving collaboration and morale.

Underlying truths

- Emotional labor is labor.
- Making all labor visible is the first step toward making all labor valued.
- Burnout prevention is part of acknowledging labor.

3. Embrace diverse perspectives shared in authentic voices

Full principle	Ensuring that individuals with diverse perspectives are at the table and have the opportunity to share in ways that allow for full, authentic participation helps us acknowledge the complexity of humanity and facilitates our ability to make HIV prevention products responsive to that reality.
Why is this	Embracing multiple perspectives and forms of knowledge, particularly from people and
important?	groups led by and based in communities most directly affected by HIV, viii also allows us to "gain better, more detailed, more accurate, and ultimately more truthful
	knowledge." ¹¹⁵ For example, strong public calls for access to the ring to meet the needs of cisgender adolescent girls, young women, and other women in Africa allow
	conversations on U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) support for this product to reflect real end users' priorities, not only the evidence weighed by
	American institutions for American women. Notably, international advocates have also called attention to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration's historic failures to consider Black American women's unique needs. Documenting and synthesizing multiple

viii See note (iii) on populations that will be the focus of MOSAIC.

perspectives, including practice-based knowledge, ix can generate more holistic and nuanced learning and prompt action in programs and policies. In addition, a greater diversity of authors in peer-reviewed literature is shown to increase the impact of publications. 122

Embracing diverse perspectives is about not only who is allowed at the table, but also what and how they can share and still be considered "contributors." The gendered, ageist, and false binary between emotion and reason typically associates reason with masculinity and older individuals and emotion with femininity and youth. In an attempt to be "objective" or "neutral," we may try to remove emotion from our work. However, emotion is part of the human experience that shapes how we interact with the world, including why and how we do the work that we do. Valuing and elevating emotion allows us to recognize people as "living, feeling bodies in the world" and is especially pertinent to this body of work.

Truly opening space to new presences and new ideas about what is valuable requires each of us to check our own beliefs and perceptions. Although we may strive for "objectivity," particularly in research, the reality is that the decisions we make and the evidence and knowledge products we produce are shaped by our own perspectives, culture, and context. For example, we may believe that data are objective; however, research is conducted by individuals, and individuals make choices at each step of the research process that can reinforce their own perspectives and affect research outcomes and their utilization. All In addition, our interpretations of "objective" quantitative measures evolve over time; for example, there are current questions as to whether tenofovir-diphosphate (TDF) levels of 700 fmol/punch, estimated to be equivalent to greater than or equal to four pills per week, consistently demonstrate this level of product use. Examining and disclosing how our own perspectives inform the decisions we make and where questions remain about our interpretations are important steps toward transparency.

Demonstrating a commitment to this principle

Embracing diverse perspectives means generating and communicating research findings and all other information in a way that acknowledges the humanity and human experiences of the diverse individuals involved. It also means interpreting findings that are "objective" through the lens of individual users' holistic experience of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) use; for example, moving beyond dried blood spot TDF levels as the last word in adherence and instead describing not only the quantitative data but also how users felt about themselves during the process and how their adherence levels affected their lives and vice versa.

It also means ensuring that those with diverse perspectives get the opportunity to have those perspectives documented and synthesized in products made widely available and

[&]quot;Practice-based knowledge is the cumulative knowledge and learning acquired by practitioners through designing and implementing programmes in different contexts — including insights gained from observations, conversations, direct experiences and monitoring." ¹²¹

	used to inform conversations. This requires efforts to build inclusive infrastructure, such
	as offering interpretation at meetings and building our own skills to work successfully
	with interpreters and translators to improve communication for all.
Underlying	More voices, representative of greater diversity (with a focus on end users and
truths	their communities), supported to participate fully at the table leads to more
	effective programming and research that asks the right questions.
	Creating space for authentic voices, including by being transparent in decision-
	making, facilitates meaningful contributions.
	More types of data, including qualitative data, and knowledge products create a
	more complete picture that is easier for many to articulate.
	Recognizing biases toward our own preferred data sources creates opportunities to
	learn and grow together and come closer to effective solutions.

4. Prioritize responsiveness to local context, preferences, and lived experiences

Full principle	Although HIV is a global epidemic, addressing it effectively requires understanding and
	responding to local context, particularly local priorities, preferences, and lived
	experiences.
Why is this	When we consider context, we avoid creating interventions or presenting data points
important?	that exist outside of the reality of people's lived experiences and the larger
	culture/systems in which those interventions are implemented or from which data
	points arise. 115 Building context into what we do means acknowledging the lived
	experiences, preferences, and priorities of the communities the project is meant to
	serve as well as the systems in which those individuals exist and the culture and
	systems in which the research team exists (see Principle 3). The types of contextual
	understanding that elevate lived experiences encompass not only the legal structures,
	political tensions, economic realities, religious beliefs, health systems, gender norms,
	and other aspects of a specific place. They also describe, using the insights of end users,
	advocates, and implementers, how those aspects together create the realities to which
	individuals, and programs designed to meet their needs, must be responsive. Without
	this step, specific decisions could be made that are logical on paper but not responsive
	to real needs among users or that do not acknowledge end users in the messy
	complexity that is part of being human. For example, AGYW have needs and aspirations
	for healthy sexual relationships; incorporating pleasure in sexual health programs, such
	as affirming human sexuality and the reasons why people have sex, has been shown to
	have positive effects on sexual health knowledge and attitudes and safer sex
	practices. ¹²⁶
Demonstrating	Being responsive to local context, preferences, and lived experiences means working to
a commitment	make more choices available. No two people are the same, and no one person remains
to this principle	static over time. More choices create an opportunity for more responsiveness; working
	to provide access to more choices respects and responds to the diversity of end users'
	needs. This principle also means we need to acknowledge that context and personal
	preferences are important elements of choice and product use that must be considered

valuable to product introduction. Components of end users lives that they themselves may struggle to talk about due to stigma — such as drug use, gender-based violence (GBV), and sexual desire and pleasure — are all the more important to engage with as a project seeking to respond to end users' realities.

This principle demands that we constantly ask ourselves whether our research designs are responsive to local context and if our findings are presented in context or could easily be misinterpreted. For example, the statement "young women's continuation rates of oral PrEP are significantly lower than those of their older peers," is easy to take out of context. One could extrapolate that young women are disinterested in their health or simply unreliable partners in their own health. When we collect and generate data, we must help the end user frame the data in the context from which it was generated. This approach leads to knowledge products that ask the reader to acknowledge the bigger systems at play, such as, "Young women's continuation rates of oral PrEP are significantly lower than those of their older peers in interventions that do not include asset building and tailored support that takes into account their disproportionate burden of stigma for PrEP use and partnerships compared to those 5+ years older."

Underlying truths

- Defining priorities locally and using local priorities to make choices is an effective approach to epidemic control.
- Preferences, including preferences for pleasure and intimacy, matter.
- Choice is an important part of responsiveness to local lived experiences, which will always be diverse.
- Responsiveness to lived experiences requires acknowledging that many factors —
 including enabling environment, substance use, mental health, and violence —
 shape HIV prevention product use and can and should be addressed.
- Narratives on "what works" and what does not should be framed in context, especially when talking about stigmatized groups.

5. Center the safety and well-being of individuals and communities most affected by HIV

Full principle	Everyone has the right to security and well-being, 127 and upholding these rights creates
	an enabling environment for HIV prevention that increases the safety of and affirms the
	dignity of people most affected by HIV.
Why is this	In research and health care, the principle of "do no harm" is one of the most
important?	foundational. For example, researchers have an ethical obligation to minimize
	participants' exposure to harm, x considering both their physical and mental health, and
	maximize their benefits throughout the study process. 128 This process includes study
	design and informed consent procedures, as well as the introduction of mechanisms to
	monitor for unintended consequences.

^{*} In this document, harm is defined as any negative consequences — social, physical, economic, or otherwise — experienced by MOSAIC partners, collaborators, and research participants. More specific definitions of harm may be utilized in research studies to ensure that preventive measures and documentation are appropriate.

However, unintended consequences can occur regardless of intention. Lessons from oral PrEP rollout have demonstrated that research, policy, and program decisions, such as providing oral PrEP to key populations only, can, for example, reinforce or even increase stigma against a product and the people who use it.¹²⁹ In turn, individual-level beliefs and perceptions, provider bias, and community-level stigma and norms affect the uptake and continued use of oral PrEP.¹³⁰

Safe, consistent use of PrEP can also be affected by harmful gender norms and power imbalances at the relationship level. ¹³¹ For example, in some settings, male partners feel threatened by their female partners having access to an HIV prevention product they can use autonomously, and a PrEP program could unintentionally increase relationship tension and the risk of intimate partner violence (IPV). ¹³² In addition, the possibility of IPV arising from a controlling partner who associates PrEP with infidelity affects the willingness of some users to disclose PrEP use and, ultimately, to use PrEP consistently or at all. ¹³³

Project activities — particularly those promoting gender equality — may also face resistance at the institutional and community levels. Such resistance can range from passive forms, such as omitting the experiences of transgender and nonbinary people in HIV prevention or denying that HIV is an issue for AGYW, to more active forms, such as supporting a project activity but covertly attempting to undermine it or using violence to suppress activities or people. Because of the potential for harm, questioning whether each potential action may cause harm as well as monitoring for unintended consequences is central to a rights-based and ethical prevention product project. The information gathered should be used to determine the path forward, including establishing protocols that guide violence prevention and response.

Demonstrating a commitment to this principle

As new HIV prevention products are introduced, research, program, and policy activities should take special care to reduce the potential for harm, including stigma, discrimination, violence, and other social harms. In practice, this means:

- Training all those who will assist clients or research participants directly to ask about violence (as part of routine enquiry in the case of PrEP services) and provide first-line support (for example, LIVES – Listen, Inquire, Validate, Enhance Safety, and Support)¹³⁵ as needed.
- 2. Training all those who will assist clients or research participants to examine their own biases and beliefs and provide services in a way that does not penalize clients who do not conform to those beliefs
- 3. Assessing potential risks to safety and well-being as part of all research and programming and using this information to make "go" or "no go" decisions where safety is the priority for example, making a "no go" decision if the potential harms outweigh the benefits.
- 4. If a "go" decision is made:
 - a. Developing strategies to prevent, mitigate, and respond to the identified risks; for example, in a male engagement program, building partnerships with community leaders, addressing the concerns of

	male partners, informing female partners of potential risks, training or		
	counseling partners to build healthy relationship skills, and		
	establishing mechanisms to identify and respond to IPV		
	b. Continuously monitoring for and adjusting in the face of unintended		
	consequences		
Underlying	Stigma/discrimination must be addressed so individuals can safely show up as their		
truths	whole selves and be respected as such.		
	Vicarious trauma must be prevented and proactively addressed.		
	Traumatic experiences are widespread among project staff, partners, and		
	participants, and project planning should proactively reduce the possibility of re-		
	traumatization and support resilience and well-being.		
	Avoiding harm should be a guiding light that is prioritized above other objectives. In		
	some cases, this may mean that activities are reshaped or stopped completely; in		
	all cases, unintended consequences must be monitored.		

Glossary

Enabling	Youth are surrounded by an environment that maximizes their assets, agency, access to
environment	services and opportunities, and ability to avoid risks, while promoting their social and
	emotional competence to thrive (<u>USAID Youth In Development Policy 2022 Update</u>). ²
Economic	Acts such as controlling finances; stealing money; or restricting, exploiting, or
violence	sabotaging access to other resources, such as housing, food, property, employment,
	and transportation.
Emotional	Acts such as constantly belittling, humiliating, or undermining an individual's sense of
violence	self-worth/self-esteem; other "controlling" behaviors, such as restricting a person's
	mobility and/or access to family, friends, information, or services.
Gender	A culturally defined set of economic, social, and political roles, responsibilities, rights,
	entitlements, and obligations associated with being female or male, as well as the power
	relations between and among women and men, and boys and girls. The definition and
	expectations of what it means to be a woman or girl and a man or boy, and sanctions for
	not adhering to those expectations, vary across cultures and over time and often intersect
	with other factors such as race, class, age, and sexual orientation. Transgender
	individuals, whether they identify as men or women, are subject to the same set of
	expectations and sanctions (Interagency Gender Working Group).1
Gender-based	Violence that is directed at an individual based on their biological sex, gender identity
violence (GBV)	(e.g., transgender), or behaviors that are not in line with social expectations of what it
	means to be a man, woman, boy, or girl (e.g., men who have sex with men, female sex
	workers). GBV includes physical, sexual, and psychological abuse, threats, coercion,
	arbitrary deprivation of liberty, and economic deprivation, whether occurring in public
	or private life (FY 2014: PEPFAR Updated Gender Strategy). 136
Gender	Concerns women and men as well as gender and sexual minorities. Equality involves
equality	working with all genders, including men and boys, and women and girls, to bring about
	changes in attitudes, behaviors, roles, and responsibilities in homes, workplaces, and

	communities. Genuine equality means more than parity in numbers or laws on the
	books; it means expanding freedoms and improving overall quality of life so that
	equality is achieved for all genders (USAID Youth In Development Policy 2022 Update). ²
Gender	A person's deeply held sense of self and what they call themselves, including woman,
identity	man, or gender diverse (USAID 2023 Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment
	Policy). ³
Gender	Strategies applied in programmatic design, implementation, monitoring, and evaluation
integration	to take gender considerations into account and to compensate for gender-based
	inequalities (Interagency Gender Working Group).1
Gender	An approach to gender integration that involves working with men and women, and boys
synchronization	and girls, in an intentional and mutually reinforcing manner to overcome inequalities,
	promote gender-equitable attitudes and behaviors, and promote positive outcomes.
Gender-	These interventions seek to transform gender relations to promote gender equity by
transformative	fostering critical examination of inequalities and gender roles and norms; recognizing
interventions	and strengthening positive norms that support equality and an enabling environment;
	promoting the relative position of women, girls, and marginalized groups; and
	transforming the underlying structures and policies that perpetuate gender inequity
	(Interagency Gender Working Group Gender Integration Continuum). 137
Inclusion	Specific measures are in place to support the participation of youth who may face
	greater discrimination and barriers to their full participation. There is a clear
	understanding of why youth may be marginalized, excluded, and silenced in the first
	place. Negative/harmful attitudes are addressed at both a societal and an individual
	level (<u>USAID Youth In Development Policy 2022 Update</u>). ²
Intimate	Any behavior by a current or former intimate partner within the context of marriage,
partner	cohabitation, or any other formal or informal union that causes physical, sexual, or
violence (IPV)	psychological harm (<u>Violence Against Women Prevalence Estimates</u> , 2018). ¹³⁸
Meaningful	An inclusive, intentional, mutually respectful partnership between youth and adults
youth	whereby power is shared, respective contributions are valued, and young people's
engagement	ideas, perspectives, skills, and strengths are integrated into the design and delivery of
(MYE)	programs, strategies, policies, funding mechanisms, and organizations that affect their
	lives and their communities, countries, and the world (<u>USAID Youth In Development</u>
	Policy 2022 Update). ²
Physical	Any act that causes physical harm as a result of unlawful physical force (e.g., acts of
violence	physical aggression, such as slapping, hitting, kicking, and beating).
Sex	The designation of a person as male, female, or intersex based on a cluster of
	anatomical and physiological traits known as sex characteristics (<u>USAID 2023 Gender</u>
	Equality and Women's Empowerment Policy).3
Sexual violence	Any act of sexual aggression or coercion, including forced intercourse, attempt to
	obtain a sexual act, and unwanted sexual comments or advances.
Youth	Defined as ages 10-29 (<u>USAID Youth In Development Policy 2022 Update</u>) ² While the
	age at which young people can access biomedical prevention products differs from
	country to country, MOSAIC is focused on AGYW ages 15–29.

Annex B. USAID and PEPFAR guidance

MOSAIC aligns with the five strategic pillars and three enablers in the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) Five-Year Strategy. ¹³⁹ Through the MOSAIC Gender and Youth Strategy, the project promotes health equity for priority populations (Strategic Pillar 1).

Strategic Pillar 1: Health Equity for Priority Populations¹³⁹

PEPFAR will remain deeply committed to ensure all ages, genders, and population groups at risk for infection know their HIV status, receive life-saving HIV prevention and treatment services, and are virally suppressed if they are living with HIV. [...] For HIV/AIDS (which mirrors many other global health threats because HIV/AIDS thrives amongst the most marginalized populations) — the largest global prevention and treatment gaps remain in adolescent girls and young women, children, and key populations. Addressing inequities in these populations will also have impact on new infections. Countries must know and close their inequity gaps.

- Focus Area 1: Advancing gender-equitable programming
- Focus Area 2: Launching a youth-focused movement to prevent HIV acquisition for the next generation
- Focus Area 3: Leading the global movement to end AIDS in children
- Focus Area 4: Transforming key population service delivery through key population leadership
- Focus Area 5: Doubling down on a holistic combination prevention approach
- Focus Area 6: Dismantling structural barriers to HIV/AIDS care

MOSAICS's approach to gender integration is also aligned with and informed by the focus on gender equality as an aspect of the Human Rights Action Agenda of PEPFAR 3.0,¹⁴⁰ as well as the PEPFAR Gender Strategy.¹³⁶ It is also in line with the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) 2023 Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment Policy³ and the U.S. Strategy to Prevent and Respond to Gender-based Violence,¹⁴¹ which both globally put forward principles, such as "do no harm," that shape the MOSAIC approach to addressing gender-based violence (GBV).

Objectives of USAID's 2023 Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment Policy 3

- Reduce gender disparities in who accesses, controls, and benefits from economic, social, political, legal, educational, health, and cultural resources, as well as wealth, opportunities, and services.
- Strive to eliminate gender-based violence and mitigate its harmful effects on individuals and communities, so all people can live free from violence.
- Increase the capability of women and girls to fully exercise their rights, determine their life outcomes, assume leadership roles, and influence decision-making in households, communities, and societies.
- Advance structural changes that address the root causes of gender inequality and promote equitable gender norms.

The PEPFAR 3.0 Human Rights Action Agenda¹⁴⁰ defines success as: (1) expanded access to nondiscriminatory HIV prevention, treatment, and care for all people, including LGBT [lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender] people; (2) increased civil society capacity to advocate for and create enabling environments; and (3) increased gender equality in HIV services and decreased GBV.

The action agenda recommends the following activities:

- 1. Provide gender-equitable HIV prevention, care, treatment, and support.
- 2. Implement GBV prevention services and provide services for post-GBV care.
- 3. Implement activities to change harmful gender norms and promote positive gender norms.
- 4. Promote gender-related policies and laws that increase legal protection.
- 5. Increase gender-equitable access to income and productive resources, including education.

Our approach to meaningful youth engagement aligns with the **USAID Youth In Development Policy 2022 Update**, which provides the following guiding principles:

- 1. Apply meaningful youth engagement and leadership in the design and delivery of projects and strategies.
- 2. Recognize that youth are not homogeneous. Promote meaningful inclusion of diverse groups of young people to ensure equity and address systemic barriers to participation based on gender, race, ethnicity, disability, sexual orientation, and gender identity/expression.
- 3. Recognize, map, and plan holistically with local systems to involve the private sector, community organizations, faith-based organizations, governments, and families in youth programming.
- 4. Integrate intergenerational approaches to strengthen youth participation in decision-making with local leaders and systems. Recognize the traditional roles that youth play in their communities and families, and meaningfully address youth-adult power dynamics in interventions.
- 5. Protect and support young people's overall well-being by building resilience to shocks, reducing harmful practices, and supporting mental health and wellness while applying trauma-informed approaches.
- 6. Apply conflict sensitivity and Do No Harm principles, while recognizing that engaging young people as partners in peacebuilding and humanitarian activities is critical to success in fragile environments.
- 7. Create pathways for youth who have experienced marginalization or disenfranchisement to access opportunities for development.
- 8. Promote responsible use of technology by and for youth by leveraging digital literacy, appropriate skills development, and digital citizenship opportunities, while reducing risks for digital harm.

Annex C. NextGen Squad terms of reference

Maximizing Options to Advance Informed Choice for HIV Prevention (MOSAIC) is a five-year (2021-2026) global project funded by the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) through the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) to help adolescent girls and young women (AGYW) and other women^{xi} prevent HIV by accelerating introduction and scale-up of new and emerging biomedical prevention products.

The NextGen Squad (NGS) is a team of paid youth advocates under the age of 30 from MOSAIC countries. Each young person is hired by the local implementing partner (e.g., FHI 360, Jhpiego, LVCT Health, Pangaea Zimbabwe AIDS Trust [PZAT], or Wits Reproductive Health and HIV Institute [RHI]) in the MOSAIC country and is mentored and supported by that local partner.

This terms of reference (TOR) document describes the role of the NGS in the MOSAIC project, the systems in place to ensure accountability to the NGS, and the support that will be available to NGS members. It is a living document that can be revised as needed during the life of the MOSAIC project.

Goal: To shape, participate in, and hold MOSAIC accountable to its plans, actions, and monitoring, evaluation and learning efforts to:

- 1. Be responsive to young people's needs, preferences, and lived experiences
- 2. Be inclusive of the diversity of AGYW
- 3. Meaningfully engage young people in research and research utilization

Objectives

The TOR for the NGS include the following objectives:

Overall

- Review MOSAIC work plans and activity implementation plans (or summaries thereof), as requested, to facilitate alignment with young people's priorities and preferences. Illustrative activities include:
 - Provide feedback and "critiques with upgrades"xiii on specific components of the MOSAIC work plan on a yearly basis.
 - Review activity implementation plans with a focus on the strategies and resources dedicated to meaningful youth engagement (MYE).
- 2. Support MOSAIC to engage with and capacitate young people so that they feel comfortable and confident participating in project activities. Illustrative activities include:
 - Train other youth on skills such as protocol review.
 - Mentor other young people on how to contribute on community advisory boards or how to participate in paper writing.

^{*}iMOSAIC end users include cisgender women, transgender women, and nonbinary people and transgender men assigned female at birth; in addition, specific underrepresented groups within these end-user populations include very young adolescents, sex workers, pregnant and breastfeeding individuals, those engaged in transactional sex, and individuals who use drugs.

xii Youth advocates have a Grade 12 or equivalent education and 0–2 years of work or volunteer experience supporting community, youth, gender, and/or HIV-related projects.

xiii Critiques with upgrades refers to providing constructive feedback with concrete suggestions for improvement.

- Regularly check in with youth community advisory board members (including those who are
 part of the CATALYST study) to understand what barriers exist to meaningful and comfortable
 collaboration, sharing any recommended actions with other local MOSAIC staff as needed.
- 3. Provide MOSAIC with reality checks. Illustrative activities include:
 - Speak up if activities do not seem to meaningfully engage young people (e.g., if the engagement seems more tokenistic/insincere than real).
 - Share what young people are experiencing in their interactions with MOSAIC activities and staff, both the positive and areas for improvement.
 - Participate in pause, reflect, and learn activities.
- 4. Help MOSAIC "do no harm" by sharing any fears, concerns, or observations related to unintended consequences of MOSAIC activities. Illustrative activities include:
 - Share anything that suggests youth helping in the implementation of MOSAIC activities are experiencing either vicarious trauma (e.g., trauma that comes from seeing/hearing about others' pain) or burnout.
 - Share any information on harms shared, informally or formally, by youth engaged by MOSAIC activities.
- 5. Support young people to act as HIV Prevention Product Ambassadors. Illustrative activities include:
 - Conduct HIV Prevention Ambassador training.
 - Mentor and/or supervise other ambassadors.

Research

- 6. **Support MOSAIC to collect information in a way that centers young people's voices.** Illustrative activities include:
 - Contribute to survey instruments or other research/monitoring tools.
 - Support recruitment of diverse young people for studies or other activities.
- 7. Help design protocols that align to local realities for young people and answer their pressing questions. Illustrative activities include:
 - Lead youth consultations in your country (for CATALYST study countries).
- 8. Serve as data collectors and/or support data entry. Illustrative activities include:
 - Attend data collector trainings.
 - Support peers to enroll in research activities.
 - Conduct peer-to-peer interviews.
 - Enter data.
- 9. **Support data interpretation.** Illustrative activities include:
 - Help plan data interpretation events.
 - Support data analysis and identify themes in qualitative data.

Research utilization

- 10. Contribute to knowledge products that are accessible to young people. Illustrative activities include:
 - Help write blog posts, articles, or other knowledge products.
 - Review blog posts, articles, or other knowledge products to provide insights on their accessibility to young people.
 - Lead the development of vlogs or other social media content related to the findings or activities under MOSAIC (or develop content for social media that can accompany other knowledge products).
 - Identify and help create knowledge products describing promising practices for gender integration and MYE based on their experiences with MOSAIC.
- 11. Ensure that knowledge products are contextualized. Illustrative activities include:
 - Review knowledge products to make sure that findings are not taken out of context (e.g., "young people do not consistently use oral PrEP" becomes "young people without an enabling environment in which to use oral PrEP struggle to use oral PrEP consistently").
 - Provide recommendations on how other local efforts to encourage AGYW pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) use could be integrated into knowledge products (e.g., "local group X will find this interesting; let's include ideas in this document related to how they might use the findings in their work").
- 12. Disseminate information, experiences, and perspectives through youth networks and global channels. Illustrative activities include:
 - Share information via social media accounts.
 - Host events online.
 - Keep other youth advocates updated on MOSAIC activities.
 - Participate in panels and presentations at the local, regional, and global levels.

Approach for achieving objectives

The NGS members will engage in activities locally as well as globally and will be supported at both levels. Across local and global activities, when they participate in MOSAIC activities as NGS members, they will:

- Be given clear instructions that describe the expected outcomes. If NGS input is sought from another
 country (whether this be for a global or country-specific activity), such requests will come through a
 central gender and youth staff person ("principal OG" [original generation]) who will be in charge of
 receiving and communicating these requests to the NGS. All those making requests will provide the
 following information about their request:
 - o Timeline
 - The ask/product
 - Why the NGS is uniquely placed to provide the needed inputs
 - What the requester will do to support the NGS as they give feedback (e.g., have a meeting to go over a product)

- The requester's commitment to letting the NGS know how their feedback was incorporated and, if any element was not incorporated, why (this will occur within seven days of the completion of the product)
- Whether this request is optional^{xiv}
- Be provided with adequate time to complete tasks (tasks should be given at least 14 days in advance; whenever possible, timelines should be co-developed)
- Be given the support that they need to meaningfully engage with the task, including the potential to work with gender and youth country leads on tasks as needed
- Be provided with information regarding protocols/norms for any meetings they will attend so that they understand and prepare prior to the engagement
- Continually be provided with constructive feedback to improve their knowledge and ability to participate in MOSAIC activities

To ensure that requests for NGS input do not become overwhelming and that they have a clear communication channel for requesting additional clarity or help, the principal OG will track NGS requests and their completion. To share tasks for individual NGS members evenly, the principal OG will ask all NGS members which tasks are of interest and will support the building of capacity (especially between NGS members).

When tasks are made at the central level, gender and youth country leads will be copied and kept up-to-date about NGS activities.

When opportunities are available for NGS members, these opportunities will be circulated via Teams, email, and/or WhatsApp. Anyone can circulate an opportunity to the NGS. Should NGS members wish to engage in an opportunity, they should contact the principal OG and their country gender and youth country lead. The principal OG and/or country lead will then provide the support needed or the principal OG will seek that support from others in the MOSAIC project. Types of support include presentation dry-runs prior to webinars.

Local activities

Local activities will be dictated by work plans and could include:

- Planning and implementing events and campaigns
- Facilitating and supporting training of AGYW using the HIV Prevention Ambassador Training Package
- Supporting trained HIV Prevention Ambassadors to set up their own ambassador groups and train peers
- Liaising with stakeholders on healthy lifestyle programs and collaborating with them to inform the implementation of MOSAIC
- Preparing and giving presentations about project activities to community groups, advisory boards,
 USAID, and broader consortium members

Support provided locally could include:

xiv Based on tight turn-around times, we do not anticipate that all members of the NGS will complete each request made of the NGS. In addition, if some requests are not project priorities, NGS members will have the option to engage or not engage, based on their workloads.

- Human resources support (e.g., onboarding)
- Mentorship from the local gender and youth country lead (Mentorship may include project/time management, building competencies for engagement in formal workplaces, and support for both completing activities and reporting on their outcomes.)
- Information technology support (providing a computer and other necessary electronic equipment)
- Reviewing documents with NGS members to facilitate comprehension
- Revising documents to ensure they are youth-friendly before they are assigned to NGS members for review
- Working with local teams to ensure that they engage with NGS members in accessible ways that promote comprehension and full participation

Global activities

Globally, NGS members will:

- Be convened virtually on a monthly basis. During these meetings, NGS members will participate in facilitation, presentation, note-taking, timekeeping, and all aspects of efficient and productive meeting experiences.
- Be given opportunities after each NGS meeting to reflect on that meeting and be provided access to open channels for information sharing and feedback
- Attend a Global All Gender and Youth Staff meeting every quarter. During these meetings, NGS
 members will work with the gender and youth country lead to prepare a short update on activities to
 engage youth in their countries. Templates for these presentations will be provided.
- Attend trainings on topics such as:
 - Identifying burnout
 - Psychological first aid (LIVES) for survivors of violence
 - Prevention product ambassador training
 - Protocol review
 - Conference abstract and paper writing
 - Sexual orientation and gender identity
 - Safeguarding
- Regular completion of activity surveys that allow MOSAIC to determine whether/how NGS members are engaging with other projects or research

Support provided to NGS members from the MOSAIC central youth/gender team includes:

- Virtual training on the topics listed above
- Opportunities to share their ideas, challenges, and successes across the MOSAIC project and outside
 of the MOSAIC project
- Links to professional development/exchange program opportunities external to MOSAIC
- Opportunities to provide anonymous feedback on the overall process of NGS participation
- Revision of documents to ensure they are youth-friendly before they are assigned to NGS members for review
- Working with result team leads to ensure that they engage with NGS members in accessible ways that promote comprehension and full participation

Participants

The NGS is comprised of youth advocates from MOSAIC countries. One youth advocate from a MOSAIC country is a full-time MOSAIC team member and serves as a country representative on the NGS. Some countries have a second youth advocate who serves as a general member of the NGS.

Name	Organization	Country	Role
Tema Mkhonta	FHI 360	Eswatini	Country Representative
Marie Merci Niyibeshaho	LVCT Health	Kenya	Country Representative
Margaret Akinyi Atieno	LVCT Health	Kenya	Member
Nts'ebo Lerotholi	Jhpiego	Lesotho	Country Representative
Febbe Amutenya	Jhpiego	Namibia	Country Representative
Adaobi Olisa	FHI 360	Nigeria	Country Representative
Celi Nkambule	Wits RHI	South Africa	Country Representative
Chantel Manganye	Wits RHI	South Africa	Member
Rubuna Nagai	FHI 360	Uganda	Country Representative
Luwi Katoka	FHI 360	Zambia	Country Representative
Sanele Ngulube	PZAT	Zimbabwe	Country Representative
Havana Mtetwa	PZAT	Zimbabwe	Member

Annex D. Acting on MOSAIC Principles

What is this tool?

The Acting on MOSAIC Principles (AMP) tool is meant to assess a team's **alignment to the principles** of gender integration and meaningful youth engagement. It assesses alignment to each principle by the populations that MOSAIC serves. The AMP tool will help you understand how closely your team aligns with these principles and how alignment differs across the groups that MOSAIC seeks to engage. After your team reviews its scores, you will be asked to decide, based on the local opportunities and gaps that the team considers priorities, where to make investments. As teams continue to use this tool over time, we can document changes that demonstrate accountability to young people and a commitment to gender equity and can see growth in individual teams and across the project.

The AMP tool will also help the gender and youth country lead(s) and/or the central gender and youth team identify areas where support may be useful across countries. For example, if Country A identifies additional efforts under Principle 5 as an important area for investment and Country B has a high score under Principle 5, these findings indicate an opportunity for sharing between countries A and B. The tool also allows the project to **document gaps** in current services to advocate for additional support with leadership, where appropriate. At both an aggregate level and the team level, the results of this tool will indicate where more resources are required. For example, if MOSAIC at an aggregate level has its lowest scores in activities to engage sex workers, this finding could indicate a need to dedicate more resources to reaching sex workers if they are identified as a priority population.

This tool does not provide a grade. MOSAIC's principles are aspirational. We will not align perfectly to any of them. In addition, the scores under this tool do not result in the need for a team to take a predefined set of actions. Instead, they indicate where investments could be made."

Who should use this tool?

Among country teams, the gender and youth country lead(s) should guide this process. They will engage others, as appropriate, to complete each section of the tool (e.g., under the section on Research, the country lead(s) will work with local MOSAIC research team members). Among central teams, small teams from each result should work with their central gender and youth backstop to complete the relevant sections. This tool is specific to MOSAIC, so only those working on MOSAIC should be engaged.

Please write to info@prepnetwork.org if you would like to access the AMP tool.

Annex E. Gender Integration and MYE Tracker

Introducing the Gender Integration and Meaningful Youth Engagement Tracker

What is this tool?

The MOSAIC Gender Integration and Meaningful Youth Engagement Tracker (also called the Gender and Youth Tracker for short) was developed to support the documentation and management of MOSAIC investments in gender integration and meaningful youth engagement. The tracker allows each country team and central result team to look across their work plans and (1) document where and how they are implementing gender integration and meaningful youth engagement strategies; (2) track progress over time; and (2) reflect on successes, challenges, lessons learned, and best practices.

How do you use this tool?

Among country teams, the gender and youth country lead(s) should complete the tracker once per quarter. They will engage others, as appropriate, to complete each section of the tool (e.g., under the section on Result 2, the country lead(s) will work with local MOSAIC research team members). Among central teams, the result backstops on the central gender and youth team should complete the tracker once per quarter with other members of that result, as needed.

The completed trackers should be shared with the central gender and youth team backstops, who will store them on SharePoint to be referred to when identifying, synthesizing, and sharing successes, challenges, lessons learned, and best practices.

What is gender integration?

Strategies applied in programmatic design, implementation, monitoring, and evaluation to take gender considerations into account and to compensate for gender-based inequalities. In this document, primary forms of gender integration are 1) addressing gender-based violence (GBV); 2) changing beliefs or norms; 3) engaging men; 4) engaging underrepresented groups. These may occur together.

What is meaningful youth engagement?

An inclusive, intentional, mutually respectful partnership between youth and adults whereby power is shared, respective contributions are valued, and young people's ideas, perspectives, skills, and strengths are integrated into the design and delivery of programs, strategies, policies, funding mechanisms, and organizations that affect their lives and their communities, countries, and the world.

Who are youth?

Youth are defined as people ages 10–29 under the USAID Youth in Development Policy 2022 Update. While the age at which young people can access biomedical prevention products differs from country to country, MOSAIC is focused on adolescent girls and young women ages 15–29.

Who are underrepresented populations?

Individuals who identify as: transgender women, transgender men and nonbinary individuals assigned female at birth, sex workers, pregnant and breastfeeding people, people who inject drugs, and people with disabilities.

Gender Integration and Meaningful Youth Engagement Tracker

Team (Country, Central Result Area, etc.)			

Workplan activity name	Gender integration activities	Status	Meaningful youth engagement activities	Status	Considerations
Insert the activity names of all high-level activities from your work plan.	Type a description of the gender integration activities as actually implemented in each quarter. Bold activities that seek to address genderbased violence, change beliefs or norms, engage men, or engage with underrepresented groups.	Select from dropdown menu.	Type a description of the meaningful youth engagement activities as actually implemented in each quarter.	Select from dropdown menu.	 What successes occurred during the reporting period? What challenges were encountered and what strategies were employed to address them? If an activity was not implemented as planned, briefly describe why. What were key lessons learned and/or best practices? What are other things to consider?
Result 1: User-Centered Approa	ch				
R1.1 Articulate, operationalize,	Q1:		Q1:		
and demonstrate	Q2:		Q2:		
accountability to principles of	Q3:		Q3:		
gender integration and meaningful youth engagement across MOSAIC activities.	Q4:		Q4:		
Result 2: Product Introduction R	esearch				
R2.1 Assess feasibility and	Q1:		Q1:		
acceptability of novel PrEP	Q2:		Q2:		
indicators for monitoring and	Q3:		Q3:		
evaluation.	Q4:		Q4:		
R2.2 Design and initiate the	Q1:		Q1:		
CATALYST study for registered	Q2:		Q2:		
PrEP products.	Q3:		Q3:		
	Q4:		Q4:		

Workplan activity name	Gender integration activities	Status	Meaningful youth engagement activities	Status	Considerations
R2.3 Generate PrEP cost data.	Q1:		Q1:		
	Q2:		Q2:		
	Q3:		Q3:		
	Q4:		Q4:		
R2.4 Conduct systematic	Q1:		Q1:		
reviews and formative	Q2:		Q2:		
research on acceptability,	Q3:		Q3:		
values, and preferences for	Q4:		Q4:		
new products.					
R2.5 Conduct analyses of	Q1:		Q1:		
existing survey and/or program	Q2:		Q2:		
data to inform introduction	Q3:		Q3:		
studies, policy, and strategic	Q4:		Q4:		
programming.					
R2.6 Conduct HIV drug	Q1:		Q1:		
resistance studies.	Q2:		Q2:		
	Q3:		Q3:		
	Q4:		Q4:		
R2.7 Conduct studies to inform	Q1:		Q1:		
and evaluate PrEP tools and	Q2:		Q2:		
interventions.	Q3:		Q3:		
	Q4:		Q4:		
R2.8 Design and initiate	Q1:		Q1:		
focused product introduction	Q2:		Q2:		
studies.	Q3:		Q3:		
	Q4:		Q4:		
Result 3: Product Introduction P	olicy and Program				
R3.1 Pipeline	Q1:		Q1:		
management/market	Q2:		Q2:		
development	Q3:		Q3:		
	Q4:		Q4:		

Workplan activity name	Gender integration activities	Status	Meaningful youth engagement activities	Status	Considerations
R3.2 Policy & program	Q1:		Q1:		
	Q2:		Q2:		
	Q3:		Q3:		
	Q4:		Q4:		
R3.4 Demand and marketing	Q1:		Q1:		
_	Q2:		Q2:		
	Q3:		Q3:		
	Q4:		Q4:		
R3.5 HIV drug resistance	Q1:		Q1:		
	Q2:		Q2:		
	Q3:		Q3:		
	Q4:		Q4:		
Result 4: Research Utilization/	Knowledge Management				
R4.1 Design and introduce	Q1:		Q1:		
research utilization and	Q2:		Q2:		
knowledge management	Q3:		Q3:		
strategies to support new	Q4:		Q4:		
biomedical prevention					
product introduction.					
Result 5: Local Partner Capacit	y Strengthening				
R5.1 Strengthen local	Q1:		Q1:		
partner capacity to design	Q2:		Q2:		
and implement biomedical	Q3:		Q3:		
prevention product	Q4:		Q4:		
introduction activities					
and research.					

Annex F. AGYW, HIV, and PrEP

Cisgender AGYW

Cisgender adolescent girls and young women (AGYW) are disproportionately affected by HIV globally.^{7,31} Although HIV incidence has declined overall across sub-Saharan Africa, incidence among cisgender AGYW has either stabilized or increased.¹⁴² Cisgender girls and young women younger than 25 years are estimated to account for 50 percent of new HIV infections in sub-Saharan Africa and are five to 14 times more likely to be living with HIV than their male peers.^{7,31} A range of factors drive cisgender AGYW's increased susceptibility to HIV, including biological, behavioral, social, and structural factors.^{32,142–144} Harmful gender norms, gender-based violence, and economic and educational inequalities are a few of these factors.^{32,142–144}

Significant investments and efforts have been made to support AGYW's access to HIV prevention products, such as the oral pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) component of the DREAMS (Determined, Resilient, Empowered, AIDS-free, Mentored and Safe) core intervention package funded by the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR).³¹ Unfortunately, multiple individual, social, and structural barriers can impede AGYW's desire and ability to initiate oral PrEP.^{6,7} As a result, the number of cisgender AGYW who initiate oral PrEP is significantly lower than the number who could potentially benefit from this product.^{11–13} Individual barriers to AGYW PrEP use include a lack of familiarity with taking daily medication,¹⁴⁵ the perceived burden of daily pill taking,¹⁴⁶ and limited perception of personal need for HIV prevention (in line with normal neurocognitive development).¹⁴⁵ Social barriers include a lack of support for oral PrEP use from parents, caregivers, and/or partners,^{147,148} as well as broader stigma and discrimination. Demonstration projects with cisgender AGYW across sub-Saharan Africa have reported sharp decreases in oral PrEP use in the months immediately following initiation, often despite continued exposure(s) to HIV.^{25,32,149–152}

Newer HIV prevention products such as the dapivirine ring (PrEP ring) and cabotegravir long-acting injectable for HIV prevention (CAB PrEP) expand the range of products that cisgender AGYW can choose from and switch between to meet their needs and suit their lifestyles. Research on product values and preferences suggest that the PrEP ring and CAB PrEP may be beneficial for end users seeking longer-acting methods, discretion, and minimal partner negotiation. 9,153 A clinical trial in Africa has shown that the PrEP ring has a favorable safety profile among users ages 15-21, with no safety or acceptability concerns among AGYW. 10 Results from an ongoing trial of CAB PrEP among AGYW in Africa are anticipated in 2023.

Transgender AGYW

As of 2020, transgender women globally were 34 times more likely to acquire HIV compared to other adults. ¹⁰⁸ Trans AGYW also experience a disproportionate burden of HIV, including when compared to older trans women. ¹⁵⁴ Transgender AGYW's increased susceptibility to HIV is multifaceted, driven by many of the same factors that affect cisgender AGYW but further complicated by harmful gender norms and transphobiatueled violence, stigma, discrimination in health facilities, and rejection from society. ^{22,32,142–144}

Global estimates for HIV prevalence are 19.9 percent among trans women and 2.6 percent among trans men; 30 percent of transgender women in sub-Saharan Africa are estimated to be living with HIV. 155 Stigma and discrimination reduce access to employment and health care as well as social, legal, and medical gender affirmation.

Investments in the initiation and continued use of oral PrEP through DREAMS have traditionally targeted cisgender AGYW and lacked programming for transgender and nonbinary individuals.³¹ Trans AGYW experience additional barriers to information and services based on gender identity⁸ and often have much lower oral PrEP initiation rates than men who have sex with men who are offered oral PrEP in the same settings.¹⁵⁶ Two studies that measured PrEP uptake found that 53 percent of trans AGYW offered oral PrEP in a large government hospital in Kenya subsequently initiated use;⁵⁹ in Thailand, only 13 percent of trans women younger than 25 accepted oral PrEP through key population-led services.²⁶ The intervention in Thailand included access to gender-affirming services and saw higher uptake among trans women 25 years and older compared to younger trans women, with 44 percent initiating oral PrEP across all age groups.⁶⁰ Studies have found that the number of trans AGYW who initiate oral PrEP is far below that of those who could potentially benefit from it,^{11–13} although continuation is relatively high among this group.¹¹

Newer forms of HIV prevention have proved highly effective among transgender individuals. CAB PrEP has been shown effective in trans women who have sex with men.⁶⁶ However, research on young trans people and HIV prevention is limited. Reviews of their participation in studies have identified a desire not to disclose one's gender identity to clinic staff as a reason not to participate.¹⁵⁷

Annex G. Crosscutting issues affecting AGYW access to and use of PrEP

Spotlight on parents and caregivers

Parents and caregivers^{xv} can play an important role in the use or nonuse of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) by adolescent girls and young women (AGYW). This is particularly true when young women live with their parents.¹⁴⁷ Although whether to use PrEP is an individual's choice, many young women decide to disclose their use to their parents for reasons such as fear of inadvertent disclosure or simply because they want their parents to be informed.^{147,148} Young women's reasons for telling their parents about their PrEP use include wanting to ask their parents for permission, which is generally in keeping with social norms related to respect for elders, and wanting to explain trips to a clinic or the presence of PrEP products in the home.¹⁴⁷ In some locations, parental consent is required for PrEP use by individuals younger than 18.¹⁵⁸

When parents do not understand the purpose of PrEP, they may reject it because they believe it is an HIV treatment or that it would lead to HIV acquisition. T5,147 Yet, many parents are interested in and supportive of PrEP for their children once they understand what it is. Parents of AGYW PrEP users reported feelings of relief that their daughters were protected and pride that their children were grown up enough to make such good decisions. Some AGYW reported feeling happy that they could alleviate their parents' fears about their daughters' health by disclosing their PrEP use. In many places — especially those with a high HIV prevalence — parental acceptance of PrEP was the rule and not the exception. However, parents in each setting will have different opinions. In some settings, parents raised concerns that their daughters would be perceived as promiscuous because they used PrEP, but most were still willing to support PrEP use. In the parents most likely to support AGYW PrEP use were those who knew that their daughters were sexually active or those who were living with HIV themselves.

Young women who tell their parents about their PrEP use report that this disclosure can be a positive and meaningful experience. It can also be supportive logistically; for example, young women who have disclosed oral PrEP use to their parents report relying on parents for reminders to take it. Mothers' support strategies may differ from those of fathers. Mothers were more likely to note that they would create a supportive environment for their daughters' PrEP use — for example, by ensuring a good diet — while fathers expressed shame and embarrassment about talking to their daughters about sex but said they could provide logistical and material support, such as driving their daughters to health centers. When parents are not told about PrEP use, AGYW report, adherence is more difficult, and they need to go to great lengths to hide their PrEP. Many AGYW who felt they could not disclose their PrEP use said they struggled with taking oral PrEP or had discontinued use. 147

If parents do accept or support their daughter's PrEP use, it is important that they have the skills to vocalize this support. 147 Young women decide whom to tell, or not tell, based in part on perceptions of acceptance. They may also ask a trusted parent or other adult to help them disclose their PrEP use to additional family members, if necessary. In some cases, parents may not be against PrEP use and may even be more supportive of PrEP use

xv We use "parents" to refer to parents and caregivers (generally understood to be the persons responsible for the care and well-being of children within the home) in this annex.

than their adolescents perceive them to be.⁶⁹ But the perception that a parent is unsupportive is associated with lower PrEP interest and can lead PrEP users to hide or discontinue their PrEP use.^{69,75}

Parents are also an important component of AGYW trial participation. Community engagement that focuses on parents could help them decide whether to allow their child's participation in a clinical trial. Parents are likely to look to members of their community whom they trust, so broader community engagement will also be necessary. Until parents understand what their children are getting into, it is unlikely that they will support the inclusion of adolescents in HIV prevention clinical trials. Among transgender youth, the extent to which their parents accepted their gender identity was predictive of whether they would approach their parents about joining a clinical trial.

Spotlight on male partners

Although men are not a population of focus for MOSAIC, research and experience shows that they have a significant impact on the ability of cisgender and transgender women — especially AGYW — to access and effectively use HIV prevention methods. We recognize that partner influence and relationships are important for all people regardless of sex assigned at birth and gender identity. This document focuses on the engagement of cisgender men due to their extensive influence on the sexual and reproductive health choices made by their female partners and women more broadly. 164

Male partners, for example, play a role in the ability of women of all ages to effectively use oral PrEP or access family planning services. AGYW may also be exposed to HIV through sex with older male partners, who often have a longer and more networked sexual history than adolescent boys and young men. More broadly, gender norms impede HIV prevention by limiting the ability of women — especially AGYW and trans women — to negotiate decisions about sex with their male partners, including decisions about PrEP uptake and use. However, male partners have also been shown to play an important positive role in uptake and continuation of sexual and reproductive health services, acting as primary sources of information and providing financial, emotional, and logistical support. Pinally, gender-based violence (GBV), which is most commonly perpetrated against women by cisgender male partners, has been shown to both increase the likelihood a survivor will acquire HIV and constrain her ability to adhere to PrEP. 133,171,172

Spotlight on health care workers

Health care workers are key players in the provision of biomedical HIV prevention provision. As trusted sources of credible information, they are highly influential in user decisions about new HIV prevention methods. 173,174 However, stigma and discrimination by health care workers also continues to be a critical barrier to reaching AGYW with HIV prevention services. AGYW often understand the likelihood of exposure to HIV and want to access health care services but are reluctant to do so due to poor treatment — or the anticipation of poor treatment — by clinic staff. 80,84 Studies of health care workers' attitudes and perceptions across countries have found that moral stances on sexual activity, especially for young unmarried women, often influence their willingness to offer PrEP. 80–82 Many health care workers have concerns about risk compensation — the idea that people adjust their behavior in response to perceived levels of risk — despite lack of evidence from oral PrEP implementation. The result has been that many women and AGYW who do seek services are reluctant to ask for oral PrEP or are not offered oral PrEP, while others are deterred from seeking it. 84–86

In one qualitative study with AGYW in Kenya, South Africa, and Zimbabwe, many health care workers said girls engaged in sexual activity at an earlier age than they thought was appropriate. The majority preferred that girls wait until they are 18. Some health care workers also shared concerns about adherence, especially among AGYW clients whose partners or parents disapproved of PrEP use. 175

In a mixed methods study with both AGYW and clinic staff in South Africa, many clinical and nonclinical staff worried that providing PrEP to AGYW would encourage them to become more sexually active and discourage them from using condoms to protect themselves from pregnancy and sexually transmitted infections. ⁸⁰ AGYW reported both anticipated and experienced stigma, including judgmental lecturing and intrusive questioning that was seen as medically unnecessary, when seeking PrEP and other sexual and reproductive health services. They also reported lack of privacy and confidentiality, largely due to the physical layout of clinics and how services were delivered.

Spotlight on gender-based violence

Experience of GBV, including physical, sexual, emotional, and economic violence committed by partners and non-partners, is highly prevalent among cisgender AGYW in sub-Saharan Africa. Intimate partner violence (IPV) is the most common form of violence against women and girls. According to the 2018 Violence Against Women estimates, 28 percent of cisgender AGYW 15–24 years old in the region had experienced physical and/or sexual IPV in the past year. 138

In the countries where MOSAIC operates, estimates of past year IPV among cisgender AGYW ages 15–24 range from 13 percent in Nigeria to 30 percent in Zambia, ¹⁷⁷ and prevalence increases substantially during the transition from adolescence to young adulthood. Young cisgender women ages 20–24 in those countries have the highest prevalence of past year physical and/or sexual IPV compared to other age groups. ^{178–180} During this stage of life, AGYW are particularly vulnerable to violence because they may continue to experience some forms of violence against children, such as violent discipline and sexual abuse in their families, and begin to experience common forms of violence against adults, such as IPV and non-partner sexual assault. ¹⁸¹ These forms of violence and HIV have common drivers, including gender inequality, unequal gender norms, and acceptance of violence. ^{171,181,182}

Transgender women and gender nonconforming people experience even higher levels of GBV. In a cross-sectional study in nine African countries, 44.6 percent of trans women and 36.8 percent of gender nonconforming individuals reported experiencing physical or sexual violence in the past year. Younger sexual and/or gender minority people (18–24 years old) faced the highest prevalence of past year violence (30.2 percent) compared to their older counterparts.

Experiencing GBV can increase the likelihood of acquiring HIV directly through unwanted or forced sex and indirectly through poor mental health, harmful alcohol and substance use, and limited agency regarding the timing and circumstances of sex. ^{23,171,182} A small body of research also shows a link between behaviors that increase the chances of exposure to HIV and other forms of violence, such as emotional and economic IPV, among young cisgender women. ^{184,185} For example, a cross-sectional study in South Africa found that emotional violence, including verbal abuse and threats, was associated with condomless sex, transactional sex, and frequent alcohol use among young women who participated in the HIV Prevention Trials Network (HPTN) 068 trial. ¹⁸⁵ A review of Demographic and Health Survey data from 10 countries in sub-Saharan Africa also found a strong association between male controlling behavior and the likelihood of exposure to HIV. ¹⁸⁶

GBV affects cisgender women's interest and willingness to use PrEP and their ability to initiate and continue using different methods of PrEP; in some cases GBV acts as a barrier to PrEP use, while in others it acts as motivator for PrEP use. 92,133,187–189 Evidence from oral PrEP trials and demonstration studies shows an association between physical, sexual, and/or economic IPV and lower uptake, increased interruptions, 187 and lower adherence to oral PrEP among adult cisgender women. 133 Conversely, a PrEP feasibility and acceptability study in Lesotho found that having a friend who experienced IPV was associated with increased willingness to use PrEP. 190 The association between IPV and oral PrEP adherence is also affected by age: a secondary analysis of HPTN 082 data found that past year IPV was associated with lower adherence among younger AGYW (16–20 years) and higher adherence among older AGYW (21–25 years). 191

Qualitative interviews with participants from the Partners PrEP Study found that IPV resulted in women forgetting to take pills and leaving pills at home when escaping a violent episode and in partners threatening to take or throw away pills. Similarly, qualitative interviews with women who were pregnant or planning a pregnancy revealed that some women did not initiate oral PrEP due to fear of IPV. Among women who did initiate oral PrEP, nondisclosure contributed to suspicions of infidelity and violence by their male partners, driving women to leave their homes and miss pills. 192

Partner-related social harms, including IPV, were also associated with lower adherence to the dapivirine ring (PrEP ring) among women in the MTN-020/ASPIRE study. ¹⁸⁸ Common triggers of social harms included discovery of the ring and partner suspicion that the ring was associated with promiscuity. Common consequences included male partners removing and destroying or discarding rings, physical and verbal violence, and dissolution of relationships. ¹⁸⁸ Qualitative interviews with former participants in the MTN-020/ASPIRE study revealed that study participation and PrEP ring use triggered IPV in their homes and was used as a reason for further abuse. ¹⁹³ For some, fear of anticipated IPV led to discontinuing PrEP ring use. ¹⁹³

Finally, it is important to acknowledge the link between PrEP and HIV post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP). PEP should be offered, as appropriate, to children and adolescents who have been raped if the rape involves oral, vaginal, or anal penetration with a penis and if they present within 72 hours of the incident. When taken correctly, PEP is an effective tool to prevent HIV acquisition among people who experience sexual assault; however, very few survivors even initiate PEP. Data on rates of completion of the full course of PEP are limited. Current evidence suggests that as few as 40 percent of sexual assault survivors globally complete the full 28-day course, with completion rates as low as 36 percent among adolescents. 194,195 In some studies, fewer than one in three survivors completed PEP. 196

Spotlight on transactional sex

Transactional sex, defined as "non-commercial, non-marital sexual relationships motivated by an implicit assumption that sex will be exchanged for materials goods or other benefits," 108,197,198 is prevalent among AGYW in many sub-Saharan African countries: estimates range from 5 percent in Cameroon to 85 percent in Uganda. 199

On average, women who have engaged in transactional sex are 50 percent more likely to be living with HIV compared to women who have not; studies suggest that AGYW who have practiced transactional sex are about two to three times more likely to be living with HIV.²⁰⁰ Many pathways connect transactional sex and HIV, including alcohol use, multiple and concurrent sexual partners, age-disparate sex, nonuse of condoms, low power in sexual relationships, and a history of IPV.^{108,200}

Transactional sex and sex work: What's the difference?

"Transactional sex is not sex work but refers to non-marital, non-commercial sexual relationships motivated by an implicit assumption that sex will be exchanged for material support or other benefits. Most women and men involved in transactional sex relationships consider themselves as partners or lovers rather than sellers or buyers. Conflating transactional sex and sex work in intervention design and funding may be counterproductive, as interventions designed for sex workers will not reach people engaged in transactional sex."

Sex work

• Self-identifies as sex worker

- Exchange of money or goods linked explicitly to sex
- Often little shared emotional intimacy

Transactional sex

- Does not self-identify as sex worker
- Exchange of money or goods implicit in relationship (including sex)
- Often some shared emotional intimacy

(UNAIDS. <u>Transactional Sex and HIV Risk: From Analysis to</u> Action, 2018)¹⁰⁸

Gender inequality in sexual and romantic relationships, including gender norms that men should provide for and control their partners and that women must reciprocate with sex, drives transactional sex. ^{108,200} In a formative study in Brazil, Tanzania, and Uganda, key norms that influenced AGYW to participate in transactional sex included: (1) AGYW are expected to receive money, gifts, or other benefits from their sexual partners; (2) AGYW are expected to gain social status through ownership of material items; and (3) AGYW who receive money, gifts, or other benefits from men are implicitly expected by the men to reciprocate with sex. ²⁰¹ For men, key norms that influenced their participation included: (1) men are expected to have heightened sexuality and sexual prowess and (2) men are expected to provide economically in sexual relationships. ²⁰¹

Transactional sex can take place in a range of economic contexts, from uniform poverty to high inequality, and with women who have varying levels of agency in their relationships. Depending on their contexts, AGYW have multiple, interrelated motivations for engaging in transactional sex, such as meeting their basic needs, improving their social status, and receiving material expressions of love. To example, in Tanzania, AGYW engaged in transactional sex in pursuit of short-term aspirations, such as gaining social status by having trendy clothes or smartphones. To many AGYW who engage in transactional sex, the perceived benefits outweigh possible negative consequences such as HIV. He have their own set of motivations and costs: they seek out younger women, considering them more agreeable and compliant, and they face financial pressures, reputational damage, and HIV risk. For example, in Uganda and Eswatini, men believed that providing money and gifts was the main way to build and maintain relationships with young women and worried about losing relationships if they could no longer provide them.

Providing a full range of HIV prevention tools, including PrEP products, may reduce the likelihood of acquiring HIV among AGYW who engage in transactional sex.¹⁰⁸ In a qualitative study embedded in the SEARCH study in Kenya and Uganda, young women in transactional sex relationships saw oral PrEP as a potential option for reasserting their control over the chances of exposure to HIV and preventing HIV, particularly when they had limited agency to negotiate condom use and were uncertain about their partners' HIV status.¹⁴⁸

Spotlight on mental health

Globally, 10 to 20 percent of adolescents experience depression, ¹⁰⁴ and AGYW are twice as likely to be affected by depression compared to their male peers. Evidence also suggests that AGYW in lower- and middle-income countries are particularly susceptible to depression. ^{101,105} AGYW often face imbalanced power dynamics with older male partners, and lack of control in sexual decision-making has been associated with depression among African women. ¹⁰²

PrEP efficacy depends on adherence and retention, and unmet mental health needs are associated with nonadherence to drug regimens. In addition, unmet mental health needs increase the odds of engaging in behaviors more likely to expose an individual to HIV. ^{204–206} Social support can help reduce the likelihood of engaging in such behaviors, but research shows that this is not the case for women when their mental health needs increase. ¹⁰³ Studies among AGYW in Kenya, ⁹⁷ Uganda, ⁹⁸ and South Africa ^{99,100} found that the frequency of multiple factors associated with greater likelihood of HIV exposure was higher among AGYW with depression. Although examples of integrating mental health services into HIV prevention programs are limited, the evidence suggests that addressing the unmet mental health needs of AGYW may help increase PrEP adherence and reduce their chances of being exposed to HIV.

Annex H. What do we know about engaging young people in research?

Young people, especially those younger than 18, are underrepresented in biomedical HIV prevention research. This lack of representation remains a significant challenge to integrating biomedical strategies, such as pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP), into effective combination prevention packages for young people.²⁰⁷

Meaningful youth engagement (MYE) means MOSAIC will take into account where young people are developmentally, emotionally, educationally, economically, and as members of their families and communities (just to name a few characteristics).

Meaningfully engaging young people in biomedical prevention product research is critical to improving the understanding of the safety and efficacy of new HIV prevention technologies among young people seeking to prevent HIV. Engaging young people provides an opportunity to learn more about their understanding of and reactions to prevention products, including a product's acceptability, use of the product, and the degree of adherence to different dosing regimens.²⁰⁸

As researchers continue to discover, develop, and implement HIV prevention strategies — including new PrEP formulations and dosage (e.g., long-acting injectable PrEP, vaginal microbicides, and vaginal rings) and preventive HIV vaccines — studies must be inclusive of the needs of adolescents and young adults. ²⁰⁹ Closson et al. (2021) demonstrate that young men and women are interested in participating in biomedical HIV prevention research, but research programs need to be designed with their daily social realities in mind. ²⁰⁹ Gender and power inequities affect youth's willingness to participate in such research on individual, interpersonal, community, and structural levels. For young women, those decisions were based largely on external factors, including intimate partners', parents', and societal perceptions of what participating in HIV prevention research would say about their sexuality and sexual behaviors. For young men, decisions were based more on individual factors or peer-to-peer perceptions — specifically, what other young men in their communities would think about them.

Understanding young women's and young men's perceived barriers and facilitators to participation in biomedical HIV prevention research is important for designing the adolescent-responsive services and acceptable technologies needed to reduce HIV incidence. Such barriers include (1) insufficient understanding of clinical prevention research, (2) self-presentation bias, (3) issues surrounding parental consent, (4) limited access to clinical trials, (5) mistrust of research, and (6) stigma associated with participation in clinical trials.

Successful retention and support of participants was evident in the youth-engaged approach implemented in AYAZAZI (a Zulu word translated as 'knowing themselves'), an interdisciplinary longitudinal cohort study of HIV sociobehavioral patterns and clinical characteristics among youth ages 16–24 years living in Soweto, South Africa.²⁰⁹ In AYAZAZI's approach, young people in this age group were recruited as research staff and received support and guidance from adults. Qualitative findings indicated that youth were generally interested in participating in biomedical HIV prevention research. However, research programs need to consider the social, lived realities of potential participants. Importantly, youth indicated a desire for youth-friendly sexual and reproductive health services and information as key facilitators of participation in research. Successes seen in AYAYAZI highlight the critical need to improve and build upon existing youth-engaged approaches to involving and retaining young people in HIV research.

Annex I. Monitoring, evaluation, and learning guidance for a user-centered approach

The MOSAIC Monitoring, Evaluation, and Learning (MEL) Plan describes the tools and approaches to track the progress and performance of the project against its goals and intended outcomes. Table 1 provides a list of performance indicators that will be used to document progress toward a user-centered approach where the needs and preferences of users and potential users of HIV prevention products are understood and addressed in product introduction and scale-up (Result 1). More information about these indicators can be found in the MEL Plan.

Table 1. User-centered approach performance indicators

Indicator	Level	Data collection method / source	Collection and reporting frequency	Anticipated targets
Percentage of MOSAIC research studies, knowledge products, journal articles, conference presentations, and PrEP Learning Network events developed with participation from youth or individuals from underrepresented populations	Process	Research and knowledge management trackers	Quarterly	50%
Number of youth (up to 29 years old) working for MOSAIC as NextGen Squad members, staff, interns/fellows, or other	Process	Human resources activity report	Semi-annually	24

In addition to these indicators, we collect data about end users who participate in MOSAIC activities such as assessments, trainings, and research studies. Program and research data should be disaggregated by gender and age, where relevant, to enhance the responsiveness and accountability of the project to an inclusive group of users and potential users. These data will be used to determine the users that MOSAIC benefits or excludes, address the gender- and age-related barriers they face, and leverage opportunities for improvement.

Gender-disaggregated data

We recommend collecting and reporting gender-disaggregated data by using a two-step method to ask about gender identity and sex assigned at birth, unless collecting these data would create undue stigma, discrimination, or other social harms. Using a two-step method is a best practice that has been used by the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR)²¹⁰ and has become an increasingly validated way to accurately identify transgender and nonbinary individuals.^{211,212} Table 2 lists recommended questions and response options using a two-step method; however, the response options may need to be adapted to be geographically and culturally specific. For example, in some settings, it may be appropriate to include intersex as a response option for sex assigned at birth.

Table 2. Recommended questions to ask about gender identity and sex assigned at birth using a two-step method

Qu	estion	Response options
1.	What is your current gender identity? [Mark	Female
	only one]	Male
		Transgender female
		Transgender male
		Genderqueer/nonbinary
		I use a different term
		Decline to answer
2.	What was your sex assigned at birth? [Mark	Male
	only one]	Female
		Decline to answer

Age-disaggregated data

Based on international research on stages of youth development, the U.S. Agency for International Development defines the different stages of youth as:²

- Early adolescence (10–14)
- Adolescence (15–19)
- Emerging adulthood (20–24)
- Transition to adulthood (25–29)

We recommend collecting and reporting age-disaggregated data using the age bands listed above with the addition of 30+ years old and unknown age.

Table 3. Recommended questions to ask about age

Qu	estion	Response options
1.	What is your birthdate?	[]/[]/[] Day / Month / Year
		I do not know
2.	If respondent does not know birth date exactly: What is your age?	[] Years
		I do not know

References

- 1. Interagency Gender Working Group. Handout: gender-related terms and definitions, https://www.igwg.org/training/developing-a-shared-vocabulary (2014, accessed 13 September 2022).
- 2. USAID. Youth in development policy 2022 update. Washington (DC): USAID, https://www.usaid.gov/policy/youth (2022, accessed 12 September 2022).
- 3. USAID. *USAID 2023 gender equality and women's empowerment policy*. Washington (DC): USAID, https://www.usaid.gov/document/2023-gender-equality-and-womens-empowerment-policy (2023, accessed 28 March 2023).
- 4. Dayton R, Manganye C, Nkambule C, et al. 'A project that really wants to know us': implementing a user-centered approach to PrEP product introduction. *MOSAIC Blog*, https://www.mosaicproject.blog/a-project-that-really-wants-to-know-us-implementing-a-user-centered-approach-to-prep-product-introduction (2022, accessed 13 September 2022).
- 5. Dayton RL, Fonner VA, Plourde KF, et al. A scoping review of oral pre-exposure prophylaxis for cisgender and transgender adolescent girls and young women: What works and where do we go from here? *AIDS Behav* 2023; 1-6.
- 6. Celum CL, Delany-Moretlwe S, Baeten JM, et al. HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis for adolescent girls and young women in Africa: from efficacy trials to delivery. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2019; 22: e25298.
- 7. Dunbar MS, Kripke K, Haberer J, et al. Understanding and measuring uptake and coverage of oral preexposure prophylaxis delivery among adolescent girls and young women in sub-Saharan Africa. *Sex Health* 2018; 15: 513–521.
- 8. Wilson E, Chen Y-H, Pomart WA, et al. Awareness, interest, and HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis candidacy among young transwomen. *AIDS Patient Care STDs* 2016; 30: 147–150.
- 9. Lorenzetti L, Dinh N, van der Straten A, et al. Systematic review of the values and preferences regarding the use of injectable pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent HIV infection. *Publ Forthcom*.
- Nair G, Ngure K, Szydlo DW, et al. Adherence to the dapivirine vaginal ring and oral PrEP among adolescent girls and young women in Africa: interim results from the REACH study. 11th IAS Conference on HIV Science, Virtual, 18-21 July 2021. https://theprogramme.ias2021.org/Abstract/Abstract/2487 (accessed 30 November 2022).
- 11. Green K, Vu Hoang M, Vu Ngoc B, et al. Low PrEP uptake but good retention among transgender women: preliminary results from real-world PrEP roll-out in Vietnam. 10th IAS Conference on HIV Science, Mexico City, Mexico, 21–24 July 2019. https://programme.ias2019.org/Abstract/Abstract/3495 (accessed 12 September 2022).
- 12. Patel P, Sato K, Bhandari N, et al. From policy to practice: uptake of pre-exposure prophylaxis among adolescent girls and young women in United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief-supported countries, 2017–2020. *AIDS* 2022; 36: S15.
- 13. Baeten JM, Donnell D, Ndase P, et al. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV prevention in heterosexual men and women. *N Engl J Med* 2012; 367: 399–410.

- 14. Moreau C, Li M, Ahmed S, et al. Assessing the spectrum of gender norms perceptions in early adolescence: a cross-cultural analysis of the Global Early Adolescent Study. *J Adolesc Health* 2021; 69: \$16–\$22.
- 15. Pulerwitz J, Blum R, Cislaghi B, et al. Proposing a conceptual framework to address social norms that influence adolescent sexual and reproductive health. *J Adolesc Health* 2019; 64: S7–S9.
- 16. Duby Z, Bunce B, Fowler C, et al. "These girls have a chance to be the future generation of HIV negative": experiences of implementing a PrEP programme for adolescent girls and young women in South Africa. *AIDS Behav* 2023; 27: 134–149.
- 17. Skovdal M, Clausen CL, Magoge-Mandizvidza P, et al. How gender norms and 'good girl' notions prevent adolescent girls and young women from engaging with PrEP: qualitative insights from Zimbabwe. *BMC Womens Health* 2022; 22: 344.
- 18. Jani N, Mathur S, Kahabuka C, et al. Relationship dynamics and anticipated stigma: key considerations for PrEP use among Tanzanian adolescent girls and young women and male partners. *PLOS ONE* 2021; 16: e0246717.
- 19. Hosek S, Celum C, Wilson CM, et al. Preventing HIV among adolescents with oral PrEP: observations and challenges in the United States and South Africa. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2016; 19: 21107.
- 20. Muhumuza R, Ssemata AS, Kakande A, et al. Exploring perceived barriers and facilitators of PrEP uptake among young people in Uganda, Zimbabwe, and South Africa. *Arch Sex Behav* 2021; 50: 1729–1742.
- 21. Rousseau E, Katz AWK, O'Rourke S, et al. Adolescent girls and young women's PrEP-user journey during an implementation science study in South Africa and Kenya. *PLOS ONE* 2021; 16: e0258542.
- 22. Lyons C, Stahlman S, Holland C, et al. Stigma and outness about sexual behaviors among cisgender men who have sex with men and transgender women in Eswatini: a latent class analysis. *BMC Infect Dis* 2019; 19: 211.
- 23. El-Bassel N, Mukherjee TI, Stoicescu C, et al. Intertwined epidemics: progress, gaps, and opportunities to address intimate partner violence and HIV among key populations of women. *Lancet HIV* 2022; 9: e202–e213.
- 24. MOSAIC. Building community acceptance for PrEP use among adolescent girls and young women in East and Southern Africa: summary evidence and experience review. Durham (NC): FHI 360, 2022.
- 25. Mugwanya KK, Pintye J, Kinuthia J, et al. Integrating preexposure prophylaxis delivery in routine family planning clinics: a feasibility programmatic evaluation in Kenya. *PLOS MED* 2019; 16: e1002885.
- 26. Ramautarsing RA, Meksena R, Sungsing T, et al. Evaluation of a pre-exposure prophylaxis programme for men who have sex with men and transgender women in Thailand: learning through the HIV prevention cascade lens. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2020; 23: e25540.
- 27. Jackson-Gibson M, Ezema AU, Orero W, et al. Facilitators and barriers to HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) uptake through a community-based intervention strategy among adolescent girls and young women in Seme Sub-County, Kisumu, Kenya. *BMC Public Health* 2021; 21: 1284.

- 28. Walters SM, Platt J, Anakaraonye A, et al. Considerations for the design of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) interventions for women: lessons learned from the implementation of a novel PrEP intervention. *AIDS Behav* 2021; 25: 3987–3999.
- 29. Hartmann M, Otticha S, Agot K, et al. Tu'Washindi na PrEP: working with young women and service providers to design an intervention for PrEP uptake and adherence in the context of gender-based violence. *AIDS Educ Prev* 2021; 33: 103–119.
- 30. Roberts ST, Browne EN, Minnis AM, et al. Safety and preliminary effectiveness of the Tu'Washindi intervention to increase PrEP use among Kenyan adolescent girls and young women at risk of intimate partner violence: a pilot cluster-randomized controlled trial. 23rd International AIDS Conference, Virtual, 6–10 July 2020. http://programme.aids2020.org/Abstract/Abstract/10699 (accessed 8 September 2022).
- 31. Saul J, Bachman G, Allen S, et al. The DREAMS core package of interventions: a comprehensive approach to preventing HIV among adolescent girls and young women. *PLOS ONE* 2018; 13: e0208167.
- 32. de Dieu Tapsoba J, Zangeneh SZ, Appelmans E, et al. Persistence of oral pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) among adolescent girls and young women initiating PrEP for HIV prevention in Kenya. *AIDS Care* 2021; 33: 712–720.
- 33. Haberer JE, Bukusi EA, Mugo NR, et al. Effect of SMS reminders on PrEP adherence in young Kenyan women (MPYA study): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet HIV* 2021; 8: e130–e137.
- 34. Baron D, Scorgie F, Ramskin L, et al. "You talk about problems until you feel free": South African adolescent girls' and young women's narratives on the value of HIV prevention peer support clubs. *BMC Public Health* 2020; 20: 1016.
- 35. Dworkin SL, Treves-Kagan S, Lippman SA. Gender-transformative interventions to reduce HIV risks and violence with heterosexually-active men: a review of the global evidence. *AIDS Behav* 2013; 17: 2845–2863.
- 36. Kalichman SC, Simbayi LC, Cloete A, et al. Integrated gender-based violence and HIV Risk reduction intervention for South African men: results of a quasi-experimental field trial. *Prev Sci Off J Soc Prev Res* 2009; 10: 260–269.
- 37. Kyegombe N, Abramsky T, Devries KM, et al. The impact of SASA!, a community mobilization intervention, on reported HIV-related risk behaviours and relationship dynamics in Kampala, Uganda. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2014; 17: 19232.
- 38. Sharma V, Leight J, Verani F, et al. Effectiveness of a culturally appropriate intervention to prevent intimate partner violence and HIV transmission among men, women, and couples in rural Ethiopia: findings from a cluster-randomized controlled trial. *PLOS MED* 2020; 17: e1003274.
- 39. Jones D, Weiss SM, Arheart K, et al. Implementation of HIV prevention interventions in resource limited settings: the Partner Project. *J Community Health* 2014; 39: 151–158.
- 40. Jewkes R, Nduna M, Levin J, et al. Impact of Stepping Stones on incidence of HIV and HSV-2 and sexual behaviour in rural South Africa: cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* 2008; 337: a506.

- 41. Wagman JA, Gray RH, Campbell JC, et al. Effectiveness of an integrated intimate partner violence and HIV prevention intervention in Rakai, Uganda: analysis of an intervention in an existing cluster randomised cohort. *Lancet Glob Health* 2015; 3: e23–e33.
- 42. Morton JF, Myers L, Gill K, et al. Evaluation of a behavior-centered design strategy for creating demand for oral PrEP among young women in Cape Town, South Africa. Epub ahead of print 3 July 2020. DOI: 10.12688/gatesopenres.13103.2.
- 43. Sales JM, Cwiak C, Haddad LB, et al. Brief report: impact of PrEP training for family planning providers on HIV prevention counseling and patient interest in PrEP in Atlanta, Georgia. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2019; 81: 414–418.
- 44. Donnell D, Beesham I, Welch JD, et al. Incorporating oral PrEP into standard prevention services for South African women: a nested interrupted time-series study. *Lancet HIV* 2021; 8: e495–e501.
- 45. Cassidy T, Ntuli N, Kilani C, et al. Delivering PrEP to young women in a low-income setting in South Africa: lessons for providing both convenience and support. *AIDS Behav* 2022; 26: 147–159.
- 46. Kinuthia J, Pintye J, Abuna F, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis uptake and early continuation among pregnant and post-partum women within maternal and child health clinics in Kenya: results from an implementation programme. *Lancet HIV* 2020; 7: e38–e48.
- 47. Heffron R, Casmir E, Aswani L, et al. HIV risk and pre-exposure prophylaxis interest among women seeking post-abortion care in Kenya: a cross-sectional study. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2021; 24: e25703.
- 48. Chabata ST, Hensen B, Chiyaka T, et al. The impact of the DREAMS partnership on HIV incidence among young women who sell sex in two Zimbabwean cities: results of a non-randomised study. *BMJ Glob Health* 2021; 6: e003892.
- 49. Eakle R, Gomez GB, Naicker N, et al. HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis and early antiretroviral treatment among female sex workers in South Africa: results from a prospective observational demonstration project. *PLOS MED* 2017; 14: e1002444.
- 50. Ongwen P, Musau A, Were D, et al. Adolescent girls on PrEP: findings from Kenya's oral PrEP scale-up supported by Jilinde. *10th IAS Conference on HIV Science*, Mexico City, Mexico, 21–24 July 2019. https://programme.ias2019.org/Abstract/Abstract/4680 (accessed 12 September 2022).
- 51. Patel P, Scholar E, Sato K, et al. Uptake of pre-exposure prophylaxis among adolescent girls and young women in PEPFAR-supported countries, 2017-2019. 23rd International AIDS Conference, Virtual, 6–10 July 2020. https://programme.aids2020.org/Abstract/Abstract/6155 (accessed 13 September 2022).
- 52. Stankevitz K, Grant H, Lloyd J, et al. Oral preexposure prophylaxis continuation, measurement and reporting. *AIDS* 2020; 34: 1801–1811.
- 53. Jhpiego, Prevention Market Manager. *Defining and measuring the effective use of PrEP think tank meeting report*. PrEPWatch, 2019.
- 54. Prevention Product Manager, Jhpiego. Evaluating, scaling up and enhancing strategies for supporting PrEP continuation and effective use. *AVAC*, https://www.avac.org/resource/evaluating-scaling-and-enhancing-strategies-supporting-continuation-and-effective-use (2021, accessed 13 September 2022).

- 55. Songtaweesin WN, Kawichai S, Phanuphak N, et al. Youth-friendly services and a mobile phone application to promote adherence to pre-exposure prophylaxis among adolescent men who have sex with men and transgender women at-risk for HIV in Thailand: a randomized control trial. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2020; 23 Suppl 5: e25564.
- 56. Dourado I, Magno L, Soares F, et al. Go seek: reaching youth and adolescents' men who have sex with men (MSM) and transgender women (TGW) to offer PrEP in Brazil. 23rd International AIDS Conference, Virtual, 6–10 July 2020. https://programme.aids2020.org/Abstract/Abstract/4389 (accessed 13 September 2022)
- 57. Massa P, Ferraz D, Dourado I, et al. Amanda Selfie, a transgender chatbot: innovations to improve access to HIV information and PrEP services among adolescent men who have sex with men and transgender women in Brazil. 23rd International AIDS Conference, Virtual, 6–10 July 2020. https://programme.aids2020.org/Abstract/Abstract/5626 (accessed 13 September 2022).
- 58. Connolly MD, Dankerlui DN, Eljallad T, et al. Outcomes of a PrEP demonstration project with LGBTQ youth in a community-based clinic setting with integrated gender-affirming care. *Transgender Health* 2020; 5: 75–79.
- 59. Kimani M, van der Elst EM, Chirro O, et al. "I wish to remain HIV negative": pre-exposure prophylaxis adherence and persistence in transgender women and men who have sex with men in coastal Kenya. *PLOS ONE* 2021; 16: e0244226.
- 60. Ongwandee S, Lertpiriyasuwat C, Khawcharoenporn T, et al. Implementation of a test, treat, and prevent HIV program among men who have sex with men and transgender women in Thailand, 2015-2016. *PLOS ONE* 2018; 13: e0201171.
- 61. Nel A, van Niekerk N, Kapiga S, et al. Safety and efficacy of a dapivirine vaginal ring for HIV prevention in women. *N Engl J Med* 2016; 375: 2133–2143.
- 62. Baeten JM, Palanee-Phillips T, Brown ER, et al. Use of a vaginal ring containing dapivirine for HIV-1 prevention in women. *N Engl J Med* 2016; 375: 2121–2132.
- 63. Nel A, van Niekerk N, Van Baelen B, et al. Safety, adherence, and HIV-1 seroconversion among women using the dapivirine vaginal ring (DREAM): an open-label, extension study. *Lancet HIV* 2021; 8: e77–e86.
- 64. Baeten JM, Palanee-Phillips T, Mgodi NM, et al. Safety, uptake, and use of a dapivirine vaginal ring for HIV-1 prevention in African women (HOPE): an open-label, extension study. *Lancet HIV* 2021; 8: e87–e95.
- 65. Brown ER, Hendrix CW, van der Straten A, et al. Greater dapivirine release from the dapivirine vaginal ring is correlated with lower risk of HIV-1 acquisition: a secondary analysis from a randomized, placebocontrolled trial. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2020; 23: e25634.
- 66. Landovitz RJ, Donnell D, Clement ME, et al. Cabotegravir for HIV prevention in cisgender men and transgender women. *N Engl J Med* 2021; 385: 595–608.
- 67. Mehale M. Preventing violence and HIV: 4Children Lesotho's experience with Parenting for Lifelong Healthy Teen. Washington (DC): Catholic Relief Services, 2019.

- 68. Kuo C, Mathews C, Giovenco D, et al. Acceptability, feasibility, and preliminary efficacy of a resilience-oriented family intervention to prevent adolescent HIV and depression: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *AIDS Educ Prev* 2020; 32: 67–81.
- 69. Giovenco D, Pettifor A, Bekker L-G, et al. Understanding oral PrEP interest among South African adolescents: the role of perceived parental support and PrEP stigma. *AIDS Behav* 2023; 27: 1906-1913. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-022-03924-x.
- 70. Mashora MC. Engaging men in HIV services in sub-Saharan Africa: an authors' viewpoint on what has been done and what still needs to be done? *Pan Afr Med J*; 37. Epub ahead of print 15 September 2020. DOI: 10.11604/pamj.2020.37.58.23062.
- 71. Dunkle KL, Jewkes R. Effective HIV prevention requires gender-transformative work with men. *Sex Transm Infect* 2007; 83: 173–174.
- 72. Messner L, Smith D, Tadesse H, et al. *Engaging men for positive maternal and reproductive health outcomes in Ethiopia*. Technical Brief, Rockville (MD): EnCompass, LLC, February 2020.
- 73. Ricardo C, Nascimento M, Fonseca V, et al. *Program H and Program M: engaging young men and empowering young women to promote gender equality and health*. Washington (DC): Pan American Health Organization, 2010.
- 74. Roberts ST, Nair G, Baeten JM, et al. Impact of male partner involvement on women's adherence to the dapivirine vaginal ring during a Phase III HIV Prevention Trial. *AIDS Behav* 2020; 24: 1432–1442.
- 75. Giovenco D, Gill K, Fynn L, et al. Experiences of oral pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) use disclosure among South African adolescent girls and young women and its perceived impact on adherence. *PLOS ONE* 2021; 16: e0248307.
- 76. Lanham M, Wilcher R, Montgomery ET, et al. Engaging male partners in women's microbicide use: evidence from clinical trials and implications for future research and microbicide introduction. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2014; 17: 19159.
- 77. Montgomery ET, Katz AWK, Duby Z, et al. Men's sexual experiences with the dapivirine vaginal ring in Malawi, South Africa, Uganda and Zimbabwe. *AIDS Behav* 2021; 25: 1890–1900.
- 78. Project SOAR. Engaging male partners of adolescent girls and young women in HIV services in Malawi: findings from DREAMS implementation science research. 2018. Washington (DC): Population Council, 2018.
- 79. Gamarel KE, Sevelius JM, Neilands TB, et al. Couples-based approach to HIV prevention for transgender women and their partners: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial testing the efficacy of the 'It Takes Two' intervention. *BMJ Open* 2020; 10: e038723.
- 80. Nyblade L, Ndirangu JW, Speizer IS, et al. Stigma in the health clinic and implications for PrEP access and use by adolescent girls and young women: conflicting perspectives in South Africa. *BMC Public Health* 2022; 22: 1916.
- 81. Pilgrim N, Jani N, Mathur S, et al. Provider perspectives on PrEP for adolescent girls and young women in Tanzania: the role of provider biases and quality of care. *PLOS ONE* 2018; 13: e0196280.

- 82. Mack N, Wong C, McKenna K, et al. Human resource challenges to integrating HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) into the public health system in Kenya: a qualitative study. *Afr J Reprod Health* 2015; 19: 54–62.
- 83. Bhavaraju N, Shears K, Schwartz K, et al. Introducing the dapivirine vaginal ring in sub-Saharan Africa: what can we learn from oral PrEP? *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* 2021; 18: 508–517.
- 84. Wechsberg WM, Browne FA, Ndirangu J, et al. The PrEPARE Pretoria Project: protocol for a cluster-randomized factorial-design trial to prevent HIV with PrEP among adolescent girls and young women in Tshwane, South Africa. *BMC Public Health* 2020; 20: 1403.
- 85. Mathur S, Pilgrim N, Pulerwitz J. PrEP introduction for adolescent girls and young women. *Lancet HIV* 2016; 3: e406–e408.
- 86. Pillay D, Stankevitz K, Lanham M, et al. Factors influencing uptake, continuation, and discontinuation of oral PrEP among clients at sex worker and MSM facilities in South Africa. *PLOS ONE* 2020; 15: e0228620.
- 87. Nyblade L, Mbuya-Brown RJ, Ezekiel MJ, et al. A total facility approach to reducing HIV stigma in health facilities: implementation process and lessons learned. *AIDS* 2020; 34 Suppl 1: S93–S102.
- 88. Garcia M, Nhamo D, Macagna N, et al. Engaging HIV-prevention ambassadors to promote oral PrEP among adolescent girls and young women: results of a Zimbabwe field test. *Afr J AIDS Res AJAR* 2022; 21: 287–294.
- 89. Rousseau E, Julies RF, Madubela N, et al. Novel platforms for biomedical HIV prevention delivery to key populations community mobile clinics, peer-supported, pharmacy-led PrEP delivery, and the use of telemedicine. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* 2021; 18: 500–507.
- 90. Rousseau E, Bekker L-G, Julies RF, et al. A community-based mobile clinic model delivering PrEP for HIV prevention to adolescent girls and young women in Cape Town, South Africa. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2021; 21: 888.
- 91. Kumbirai C, Mabhunu V, Mawoyo T, et al. Peer power: harnessing peer mobilisers to improve uptake of PrEP among adolescent girls. 23rd International AIDS Conference, Virtual, 6-10 July 2020. https://programme.aids2020.org/Abstract/Abstract/6727 (accessed 30 November 2022).
- 92. Hatcher AM, Eakle R, Peltz A. Partner violence as conversation opener for preexposure prophylaxis use among younger women. *AIDS* 2022; 36: 1195–1196.
- 93. Colombini M, Scorgie F, Stangl A, et al. Exploring the feasibility and acceptability of integrating screening for gender-based violence into HIV counselling and testing for adolescent girls and young women in Tanzania and South Africa. *BMC Public Health* 2021; 21: 433.
- 94. Garcia M, Roberts ST, Mayo AJ, et al. Integrating gender-based violence screening and support into the research clinic setting: experiences from an HIV prevention open-label extension trial in sub-Saharan Africa. *AIDS Behav* 2023; 27: 1277-1286. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-022-03864-6.

- 95. Montgomery ET, Roberts ST, Reddy K, et al. The CHARISMA randomized controlled trial: a relationship-focused counseling intervention integrated within oral PrEP delivery for HIV prevention among women in Johannesburg, South Africa. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2022; 90: 425–433.
- 96. CHARISMA Mobile: a digital empowerment counseling tool to help women use PrEP safely. Technical Brief, Digital Square and CHARISMA, https://www.prepwatch.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/CHARISMA_Mobile_July2022.pdf (June 2022).
- 97. Larsen A, Kinuthia J, Lagat H, et al. Depression and HIV risk behaviors among adolescent girls and young women seeking family planning services in Western Kenya. *Int J STD AIDS* 2020; 31: 652–664.
- 98. Lundberg P, Rukundo G, Ashaba S, et al. Poor mental health and sexual risk behaviours in Uganda: a cross-sectional population-based study. *BMC Public Health* 2011; 11: 125.
- 99. Nduna M, Jewkes RK, Dunkle KL, et al. Associations between depressive symptoms, sexual behaviour and relationship characteristics: a prospective cohort study of young women and men in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2010; 13: 44.
- 100. Smit J, Myer L, Middelkoop K, et al. Mental health and sexual risk behaviours in a South African township: a community-based cross-sectional study. *Public Health* 2006; 120: 534–542.
- 101. Kieling C, Baker-Henningham H, Belfer M, et al. Child and adolescent mental health worldwide: evidence for action. *Lancet* 2011; 378: 1515–1525.
- 102. Gupta R, Dandu M, Packel L, et al. Depression and HIV in Botswana: a population-based study on gender-specific socioeconomic and behavioral correlates. *PLOS ONE* 2010; 5: e14252.
- 103. Fang L, Chuang D-M, Al-Raes M. Social support, mental health needs, and HIV risk behaviors: a gender-specific, correlation study. *BMC Public Health* 2019; 19: 651.
- 104. WHO. Adolescent mental health, https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-mental-health (2021, accessed 13 September 2022).
- 105. WHO. Gender and women's mental health. Fact Sheet, Geneva: WHO, 2002.
- 106. Stanton AM, O'Cleirigh C, Knight L, et al. The importance of assessing and addressing mental health barriers to PrEP use during pregnancy and postpartum in sub-Saharan Africa: state of the science and research priorities. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2022; 25: e26026.
- 107. Velloza J, Hosek S, Donnell D, et al. Assessing longitudinal patterns of depressive symptoms and the influence of symptom trajectories on HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis adherence among adolescent girls in the HPTN 082 randomized controlled trial. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2021; 24 Suppl 2: e25731.
- 108. UNAIDS, STRIVE. *Transactional sex and HIV risk: from analysis to action*, https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2018/transactional-sex-and-hiv-risk (2018, accessed 12 September 2022).
- 109. Mathur S, Mishra R, Mahapatra B, et al. Assessing layered HIV prevention programming: optimizing outcomes for adolescent girls and young women. *AIDS* 2022; 36: S75.

- 110. Partnership for Maternal Newborn and Child Health. *Global consensus statement on meaningful adolescent and youth engagement*, https://pmnch.who.int/resources/publications/m/item/global-consensus-statement-on-meaningful-adolescent-and-youth-engagement (2020, accessed 13 September 2022).
- 111. UNAIDS, AVAC. *Good participatory practice (GPP) guidelines*, https://www.avac.org/good-participatory-practice (2011, accessed 13 September 2022).
- 112. Bloom SL. Organizational stress as a barrier to trauma-informed service delivery. In: *Public health perspective of women's mental health*. New York: Springer, 2010, pp. 295–311.
- 113. Sriram V, Topp SM, Schaaf M, et al. 10 best resources on power in health policy and systems in low- and middle-income countries. *Health Policy Plan* 2018; 33: 611–621.
- 114. Forman L. What do human rights bring to discussions of power and politics in health policy and systems? *Glob Public Health* 2019; 14: 489–502.
- 115. D'Ignazio C, F. Klein L. Seven intersectional feminist principles for equitable and actionable COVID-19 data. *Big Data Soc* 2020; 7: 2053951720942544.
- 116. Hyde JS, Bigler RS, Joel D, et al. The future of sex and gender in psychology: five challenges to the gender binary. *Am Psychol* 2019; 74: 171–193.
- 117. LINKAGES. *The nexus of gender and HIV among transgender people in Kenya*. Durham (NC): FHI 360, https://www.fhi360.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/resource-linkages-kenya-tg-gender-analysis-2016.pdf (2016).
- 118. Benton A, Sangaramoorthy T. Exceptionalism at the end of AIDS. AMA J Ethics 2021; 23: 410–417.
- 119. Kohler L. It's time to talk about the cost of emotional labor at work. *Forbes*, 2021, https://www.forbes.com/sites/lindsaykohler/2021/09/30/its-time-to-talk-about-the-cost-of-emotional-labor-at-work/ (2021, accessed 13 September 2022).
- 120. Nagoski E, Nagoski A. Burnout: the secret to unlocking the stress cycle. New York: Ballantine Books, 2020.
- 121. Palm S, Clowes A. *Learning from practice: approaches to capture and apply practice-based knowledge.* Prevention Collaborative, 2019.
- 122. Parish AJ, Boyack KW, Ioannidis JPA. Dynamics of co-authorship and productivity across different fields of scientific research. *PLOS ONE* 2018; 13: e0189742.
- 123. D'Ignazio C, Klein L. On rational, scientific, objective viewpoints from mythical, imaginary, impossible standpoints. In: *Data Feminism*, https://data-feminism.mitpress.mit.edu/pub/5evfe9yd/release/5 (2020, accessed 12 September 2022).
- 124. We All Count. Data equity framework. *We All Count*, https://weallcount.com/the-data-process (accessed 13 September 2022).
- 125. Pyra M, Anderson P, Haberer JE, et al. Tenofovir-diphosphate as a marker of HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis use among East African men and women. *Front Pharmacol* 2019; 10: 401.

- 126. Zaneva M, Philpott A, Singh A, et al. What is the added value of incorporating pleasure in sexual health interventions? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLOS ONE* 2022; 17: e0261034.
- 127. United Nations. Universal Declaration of Human Rights. *United Nations*, https://www.un.org/en/about-us/universal-declaration-of-human-rights (accessed 12 September 2022).
- 128. AVAC. Principles of research ethics. *AVAC*, https://www.avac.org/principles-research-ethics (2014, accessed 13 September 2022).
- 129. Golub SA. PrEP stigma: implicit and explicit drivers of disparity. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2018; 15: 190-197.
- 130. Velloza J, Khoza N, Scorgie F, et al. The influence of HIV-related stigma on PrEP disclosure and adherence among adolescent girls and young women in HPTN 082: a qualitative study. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2020; 23: e25463.
- 131. Hartmann M, Lanham M, Palanee-Phillips T, et al. Generating CHARISMA: development of an intervention to help women build agency and safety in their relationships while using PrEP for HIV prevention. *AIDS Educ Prev* 2019; 31: 433–451.
- 132. Montgomery ET, van der Straten A, Stadler J, et al. Male partner influence on women's HIV prevention trial participation and use of pre-exposure prophylaxis: the importance of 'understanding'. *AIDS Behav* 2015; 19: 784–793.
- 133. Roberts ST, Haberer J, Celum C, et al. Intimate partner violence and adherence to HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) in African women in HIV serodiscordant relationships: a prospective cohort study. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2016; 73: 313–322.
- 134. United Nations Trust Fund to End Violence Against Women. Learning from practice: resistance and backlash to preventing violence against women and girls. UN Women, https://untf.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2021/12/learning-from-practice-resistance-and-backlash-to-preventing-violence-against-women-and-girls (2021, accessed 13 September 2022).
- 135. WHO. Caring for women subjected to violence: a WHO curriculum for training health-care providers, revised edition, 2021. Geneva: WHO, https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789240039803 (2021, accessed 4 October 2022).
- 136. PEPFAR. FY 2014: Updated gender strategy. Washington (DC): The Office of the U.S. Global AIDS Coordinator, 2013.
- 137. Interagency Gender Working Group. *The gender integration continuum training session user's guide*. Washington (DC): Population Reference Bureau, https://www.igwg.org/training/users-guide/ (2017, accessed 15 September 2022).
- 138. WHO. *Violence against women prevalence estimates, 2018*, https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789240022256 (2021, accessed 12 September 2022).
- 139. PEPFAR. *PEPFAR's five-year strategy: fulfilling America's promise to end the HIV/AIDS pandemic by 2030*. Washington (DC): The Office of the U.S. Global AIDS Coordinator, 2022.

- 140. PEPFAR. *PEPFAR 3.0 Controlling the epidemic: delivering on the promise of an AIDS-free Generation*. Washington (DC): The Office of the U.S. Global AIDS Coordinator, 2015.
- 141. U.S. State Department, USAID. 2022 U.S. strategy to prevent and respond to gender-based violence globally. Washington (DC), 2022.
- 142. Harrison A, Colvin CJ, Kuo C, et al. Sustained high HIV incidence in young women in Southern Africa: social, behavioral, and structural factors and emerging intervention approaches. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* 2015; 12: 207–215.
- 143. Bekker L-G, Johnson L, Wallace M, et al. Building our youth for the future. J Int AIDS Soc 2015; 18: 20027.
- 144. Mathur S, Pilgrim N, Patel SK, et al. HIV vulnerability among adolescent girls and young women: a multi-country latent class analysis approach. *Int J Public Health* 2020; 65: 399–411.
- 145. Haberer JE, Mugo N, Baeten JM, et al. PrEP as a lifestyle and investment for adolescent girls and young women in Sub-Saharan Africa. *J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care* 2019; 18: 2325958219831011.
- 146. Pintye J, O'Malley G, Kinuthia J, et al. Influences on early discontinuation and persistence of daily oral PrEP use among Kenyan adolescent girls and young women: a qualitative evaluation from a PrEP implementation program. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2021; 86: e83.
- 147. Scorgie F, Khoza N, Baron D, et al. Disclosure of PrEP use by young women in South Africa and Tanzania: qualitative findings from a demonstration project. *Cult Health Sex* 2021; 23: 257–272.
- 148. Camlin CS, Koss CA, Getahun M, et al. Understanding demand for PrEP and early experiences of PrEP use among young adults in rural Kenya and Uganda: a qualitative study. *AIDS Behav* 2020; 24: 2149–2162.
- 149. Nakku-Joloba E, Pisarski EE, Wyatt MA, et al. Beyond HIV prevention: everyday life priorities and demand for PrEP among Ugandan HIV serodiscordant couples. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2019; 22: e25225.
- 150. Celum CL, Mgodi N, Bekker L-G, et al. Adherence 3 months after PrEP initiation among young African women in HPTN 082. *CROI*, Seattle, United States, 4-7 March 2019. https://www.croiconference.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/posters/2019/1430 Celum 0995.pdf.
- 151. Kyongo J, Kiragu M, Karuga R, et al. How long will they take it? Oral pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) retention for female sex workers, men who have sex with men and young women in a demonstration project in Kenya. 22nd International AIDS Conference, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 24–27 July 2018. https://programme.aids2018.org/Abstract/Abstract/8788 (accessed 12 September 2022).
- 152. Rousseau-Jemwa E, Bekker L-G, Bukusi E, et al. *Early persistence of HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) in African adolescent girls and young women (AGYW) from Kenya and South Africa*. Research Triangle Park (NC): RTI International, https://www.rti.org/publication/early-persistence-hiv-pre-exposure-prophylaxis-prep-african-adolescent-girls-and-young (30 September 2018, accessed 12 September 2022).
- 153. Griffin JB, Ridgeway K, Montgomery E, et al. Vaginal ring acceptability and related preferences among women in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. *PLOS ONE* 2019; 14: e0224898.

- 154. Arayasirikul S, Wilson EC, Raymond HF. Examining the effects of transphobic discrimination and race on HIV risk among transwomen in San Francisco. *AIDS Behav* 2017; 21: 2628–2633.
- 155. Stutterheim SE, van Dijk M, Wang H, et al. The worldwide burden of HIV in transgender individuals: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLOS ONE* 2021; 16: e0260063.
- 156. Green KE, Nguyen LH, Phan HTT, et al. Prepped for PrEP? Acceptability, continuation and adherence among men who have sex with men and transgender women enrolled as part of Vietnam's first preexposure prophylaxis program. Sex Health 2021; 18: 104–115.
- 157. Fisher CB, Fried AL, Desmond M, et al. Facilitators and barriers to participation in PrEP HIV prevention trials involving transgender male and female adolescents and emerging adults. *AIDS Educ Prev* 2017; 29: 205–217.
- 158. Taggart T, Bond KT, Ritchwood TD, et al. Getting youth PrEPared: adolescent consent laws and implications for the availability of PrEP among youth in countries outside of the United States. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2019; 22: e25363.
- 159. Kidman R, Nachman S, Kohler H-P. Interest in HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) among adolescents and their caregivers in Malawi. *AIDS Care* 2020; 32: 23–31.
- 160. Hill S, Johnson J, Washington L, et al. Caregiver support as novel strategy to improve adolescent and young adult adherence to PrEP in Deep South. *J Adolesc Health* 2020; 66: S125–S126.
- 161. Makyao N, Saria V, Jani N, et al. How will social norms about parenting influence parental support of adolescent girls and young women's (AGYW) use of PrEP? Perspectives from parents in Tanzania. 22nd International AIDS Conference, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 24–27 July 2018. https://programme.aids2018.org/Abstract/Abstract/7324 (accessed 12 September 2022).
- 162. Koay WLA, Fortuna G, Griffith C, et al. Awareness of and attitudes toward pre-exposure prophylaxis among predominantly heterosexual black adolescents and young adults and their guardians in an urban area with HIV epidemic in the United States. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2021; 40: 351–353.
- 163. Ellen JM, Wallace M, Sawe FK, et al. Community engagement and investment in biomedical HIV prevention research for youth: rationale, challenges, and approaches. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2010; 54 Suppl 1: S7-11.
- 164. Holmes LE, Kaufman MR, Casella A, et al. Qualitative characterizations of relationships among South African adolescent girls and young women and male partners: implications for engagement across HIV self-testing and pre-exposure prophylaxis prevention cascades. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2020; 23: e25521.
- 165. Obare F, Odwe G, Cleland J. Factors influencing women's decisions regarding birth planning in a rural setting in Kenya and their implications for family planning programmes. *J Biosoc Sci* 2021; 53: 935–947.
- 166. Gregson S, Nyamukapa CA, Garnett GP, et al. Sexual mixing patterns and sex-differentials in teenage exposure to HIV infection in rural Zimbabwe. *Lancet* 2002; 359: 1896–1903.
- 167. Gupta GR. How men's power over women fuels the HIV epidemic. BMJ 2002; 324: 183-184.

- 168. Chapman J, do Nascimento N, Mandal M. Role of male sex partners in HIV risk of adolescent girls and young women in Mozambique. *Glob Health Sci Pract* 2019; 7: 435–446.
- 169. Harling G, Gumede D, Shahmanesh M, et al. Sources of social support and sexual behaviour advice for young adults in rural South Africa. *BMJ Glob Health* 2018; 3: e000955.
- 170. Pleasants E, Tauya T, Reddy K, et al. Relationship type and use of the vaginal ring for HIV-1 prevention in the MTN 020/ASPIRE trial. *AIDS Behav* 2020; 24: 866–880.
- 171. Jewkes RK, Dunkle K, Nduna M, et al. Intimate partner violence, relationship power inequity, and incidence of HIV infection in young women in South Africa: a cohort study. *Lancet* 2010; 376: 41–48.
- 172. Kouyoumdjian FG, Calzavara LM, Bondy SJ, et al. Intimate partner violence is associated with incident HIV infection in women in Uganda. *AIDS* 2013; 27: 1331–1338.
- 173. van der Wal R, Loutfi D. Pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV prevention in East and Southern Africa. *Can J Public Health* 2017; 108: e643–e645.
- 174. Pintye J, Beima-Sofie KM, Makabong'O PA, et al. HIV-uninfected Kenyan adolescent and young women share perspectives on using pre-exposure prophylaxis during pregnancy. *AIDS Patient Care STDs* 2018; 32: 538–544.
- 175. Lanham M, Ridgeway K, Mireku M, et al. Health care providers' attitudes toward and experiences delivering oral PrEP to adolescent girls and young women in Kenya, South Africa, and Zimbabwe. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2021; 21: 1112.
- 176. García-Moreno C, Jansen HAFM, Ellsberg M, et al. *WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence against women : initial results on prevalence, health outcomes and women's responses*. Geneva: WHO, https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43309 (2005, accessed 12 September 2022).
- 177. WHO. Global database on the prevalence of violence against women. WHO VAW, https://srhr.org/vaw-data/data (2021, accessed 12 September 2022).
- 178. Decker MR, Latimore AD, Yasutake S, et al. Gender-based violence against adolescent and young adult women in low- and middle-income countries. *J Adolesc Health Off Publ Soc Adolesc Med* 2015; 56: 188–196.
- 179. Coll CVN, Ewerling F, García-Moreno C, et al. Intimate partner violence in 46 low-income and middle-income countries: an appraisal of the most vulnerable groups of women using national health surveys. *BMJ Glob Health* 2020; 5: e002208.
- 180. United Nations Population Fund. Prevalence rates, trends and disparities in intimate partner violence: power of data in the IPV geospatial dashboard. New York: UNFPA, https://www.unfpa.org/resources/prevalence-rates-trends-and-disparities-ipv (2021, accessed 13 September 2022).
- 181. UNICEF. *Gender dimensions of violence against children and adolescents*. New York: UNICEF, https://www.unicef.org/documents/gender-dimensions-violence-against-children-and-adolescents (2020, accessed 12 September 2022).

- 182. Dunkle KL, Decker MR. Gender-based violence and HIV: reviewing the evidence for links and causal pathways in the general population and high-risk groups. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 2013; 69 Suppl 1: 20–26.
- 183. Müller A, Daskilewicz K, Kabwe ML, et al. Experience of and factors associated with violence against sexual and gender minorities in nine African countries: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health* 2021; 21: 357.
- 184. Gibbs A, Dunkle K, Willan S, et al. Are women's experiences of emotional and economic intimate partner violence associated with HIV-risk behaviour? A cross-sectional analysis of young women in informal settlements in South Africa. *AIDS Care* 2019; 31: 667–674.
- 185. Leddy AM, Selin A, Lippman SA, et al. Emotional violence is associated with increased HIV risk behavior among South African adolescent girls and young women in the HPTN 068 cohort. *AIDS Behav* 2022; 26: 1863–1870.
- 186. Durevall D, Lindskog A. Intimate partner violence and HIV in ten sub-Saharan African countries: what do the Demographic and Health Surveys tell us? *Lancet Glob Health* 2015; 3: e34-43.
- 187. Cabral A, M Baeten J, Ngure K, et al. Intimate partner violence and self-reported pre-exposure prophylaxis interruptions among HIV-negative partners in HIV serodiscordant couples in Kenya and Uganda. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2018; 77: 154–159.
- 188. Palanee-Phillips T, Roberts ST, Reddy K, et al. Impact of partner-related social harms on women's adherence to the dapivirine vaginal ring during a Phase III Trial. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2018; 79: 580–589.
- 189. O'Malley TL, Hawk ME, Egan JE, et al. Intimate partner violence and pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP): a rapid review of current evidence for women's HIV prevention. *AIDS Behav* 2020; 24: 1342–1357.
- 190. Karletsos D, Greenbaum CR, Kobayashi E, et al. Willingness to use PrEP among female university students in Lesotho. *PLOS ONE* 2020; 15: e0230565.
- 191. Giovenco D, Pettifor A, Powers KA, et al. Intimate partner violence and oral HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis adherence among young African women. *AIDS* 2022; 36: 1151–1159.
- 192. Atukunda EC, Owembabazi M, Pratt MC, et al. A qualitative exploration to understand barriers and facilitators to daily oral PrEP uptake and sustained adherence among HIV-negative women planning for or with pregnancy in rural Southwestern Uganda. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2022; 25: e25894.
- 193. Hartmann M, Palanee-Phillips T, O'Rourke S, et al. The relationship between vaginal ring use and intimate partner violence and social harms: formative research outcomes from the CHARISMA study in Johannesburg, South Africa. *AIDS Care* 2019; 31: 660–666.
- 194. Draughon Moret JE, Sheridan DJ, Wenzel JA. "Reclaiming control" patient acceptance and adherence to HIV post-exposure prophylaxis following sexual assault. *Glob Qual Nurs Res* 2021; 8: 23333936211046580.
- 195. Ford N, Irvine C, Shubber Z, et al. Adherence to HIV postexposure prophylaxis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *AIDS* 2014; 28: 2721–2727.

- 196. Abrahams N, Jewkes R. Barriers to post exposure prophylaxis (PEP) completion after rape: a South African qualitative study. *Cult Health Sex* 2010; 12: 471–484.
- 197. Stoebenau K, Heise L, Wamoyi J, et al. Revisiting the understanding of 'transactional sex' in sub-Saharan Africa: a review and synthesis of the literature. *Soc Sci Med* 2016; 168: 186–197.
- 198. Wamoyi J, Ranganathan M, Kyegombe N, et al. Improving the measurement of transactional sex in sub-Saharan Africa: a critical review. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2019; 80: 367–374.
- 199. Krisch M, Averdijk M, Valdebenito S, et al. Sex trade among youth: a global review of the prevalence, contexts and correlates of transactional sex among the general population of youth. *Adolesc Res Rev* 2019; 4: 115–134.
- 200. Wamoyi J, Stobeanau K, Bobrova N, et al. Transactional sex and risk for HIV infection in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2016; 19: 20992.
- 201. Howard-Merrill L, Pichon M, Wamoyi J, et al. Attitudes, beliefs and normative influences linked to transactional sex: insights from LINEA formative research in Brazil, Tanzania and Uganda, https://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/id/eprint/4665187 (2022, accessed 12 September 2022).
- 202. Wamoyi J, Gafos M, Howard-Merrill L, et al. Capitalising on aspirations of adolescent girls and young women to reduce their sexual health risks: implications for HIV prevention. *Glob Public Health* 2022; 17: 1665–1674.
- 203. Pulerwitz J, Valenzuela C, Gottert A, et al. 'A man without money getting a sexual partner? It doesn't exist in our community': male partners' perspectives on transactional sexual relationships in Uganda and Eswatini. *Cult Health Sex* 2022; 24: 968–982.
- 204. Gerbi GB, Habtemariam T, Robnett V, et al. Psychosocial factors as predictors of HIV/AIDS risky behaviors among people living with HIV/AIDS. *J AIDS HIV Res* 2012; 4: 8–16.
- 205. Farinpour R, Miller EN, Satz P, et al. Psychosocial risk factors of HIV morbidity and mortality: findings from the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study (MACS). *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol* 2003; 25: 654–670.
- 206. Cook JA, Grey D, Burke J, et al. Depressive symptoms and AIDS-related mortality among a multisite cohort of HIV-positive women. *Am J Public Health* 2004; 94: 1133–1140.
- 207. LoVette A, Kuo C, Giovenco D, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis as an opportunity for engagement in HIV prevention among South African adolescents. *SAHARA J*; 19: 1–7.
- 208. DiClemente RJ, Ruiz MS, Sales JM. Barriers to adolescents' participation in HIV biomedical prevention research. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2010; 54 Suppl 1: S12-17.
- 209. Closson K, Lee L, Dietrich JJ, et al. Gender and power dynamics of social relationships shape willingness to participate in biomedical HIV prevention research among South African adolescents and young adults. *Front Reprod Health* 2021; 3. DOI: 10.3389/frph.2021.639391.
- 210. PEPFAR. *PEPFAR monitoring, evaluation, and reporting indicator reference guide. MER 2.0 (Version 2.6).*Washington (DC): The Office of the U.S. Global AIDS Coordinator,

- https://datim.zendesk.com/hc/enus/articles/360000084446-MER-Indicator-Reference-Guides (2021, accessed 6 October 2022).
- 211. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine; Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education; Committee on National Statistics; Committee on Measuring Sex, Gender Identity, and Sexual Orientation. *Measuring sex, gender identity, and sexual orientation*. Washington (DC): National Academies Press, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK578625/ (2022, accessed 6 October 2022).
- 212. Division of AIDS Cross-Network Transgender Working Group. *Guidance on the use of gender-inclusive HIV research practices: protocol design, data collection, and data reporting,* https://daidslearningportal.niaid.nih.gov/local/pages/?id=17 (2020, accessed 6 October 2022).

